

# Evidence brief for policy EVIPNet Europe

Informing amendments to the alcohol control legislation directed at reducing harmful use of alcohol in the Republic of Moldova

Evidence-informed Policy Network (EVIPNet) Europe





# Evidence brief for policy

**EVIPNet Europe** 

Informing amendments to the alcohol control legislation directed at reducing harmful use of alcohol in the Republic of Moldova



Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications WHO Regional Office for Europe UN City, Marmorvej 51 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the Regional Office website (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest</u>).

#### © WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2019

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. Tirdea M, Ciobanu A, Obreja G. Evidence brief for policy. Informing amendments to the alcohol control legislation directed to reduce harmful use of alcohol in the Republic of Moldova (WHO EVIPNet Europe). Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

## CONTENTS

| Contents iii  |
|---|
| List of illustrations iv  |
| List of abbreviationsv  |
| WHO Evidence-informed Policy Network (EVIPNet)vi  |
| Acknowledgements vi   |
| Main messages   |
| Executive summary   |
| Defining the problem7   |
| How was the problem brought to light?   |
| What is the magnitude of the problem?8  |
| What are the consequences of the problem?10   |
| What factors influence access to and consumption of alcohol?11  |
| Problem-solving approaches  |
| Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages16  |
| Approach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages   |
| Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation and prices of alcoholic beverages  |
| Equity-related observations about the approaches27  |
| Implementation considerations   |
| Next steps  |
| References  |
| Annexes   |
| Annex 1 Reliability and acceptability of the systematic reviews found for the three policy options<br>according to the SURE checklist44 |
| Annex 2 Summary of systematic reviews relevant to Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of<br>alcoholic beverages47                       |
| Annex 3 Summary of systematic reviews relevant to Approach 2. Regulating advertising of<br>alcoholic beverages48                        |
| Annex 4 Summary of systematic reviews relevant to Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation and prices of alcoholic beverages51            |
| Annex references  |

#### LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

#### Tables

| Table 1. Summary of the main conclusions from the systematic reviews relevant toApproach 1. Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages                            | 18 |
|---|----|
| Table 2. Summary of main conclusions from the systematic reviews relevant toApproach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages                                 | 22 |
| Table 3. Summary of main conclusions from the systematic reviews relevant to         Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation and prices of alcoholic         beverages | 25 |
| Table 4. Barriers and strategies relating to Approach 1. Regulating retail sales for         alcoholic beverages  | 28 |
| Table 5. Barriers and strategies relating to Approach 2. Regulating advertising of         alcoholic beverages  | 30 |
| Table 6. Barriers and strategies relating to Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation         and prices of alcoholic beverages   | 31 |

#### Boxes

| Box 1: What are alcohol control policies?   | .7 |
|---|----|
| Box 2: Mobilizing the evidence relating to the problem                                    | 8  |
| Box 3: What is alcohol?   | 8  |
| Box 4: The process of developing the EBP  | 15 |
| Box 5: Collection of evidence on options identified as potential solutions to the problem | 16 |

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| CVD      | cardiovascular disease  |
|----------|---|
| DALY     | disability-adjusted life year   |
| EBP      | evidence brief for policy   |
| EU       | European Union  |
| GHO      | Global Health Observatory   |
| HIV/AIDS | human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome   |
| KAP      | knowledge, attitudes and practices  |
| K2P      | knowledge to policy (Center)  |
| MLDA     | minimum legal drinking age  |
| MUP      | minimum unit price  |
| NCDs     | noncommunicable diseases  |
| NICE     | National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (now the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) |
| OECD     | Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development  |
| UNICEF   | United Nations Children's Fund  |
| WHO      | World Health Organization   |

#### WHO EVIDENCE-INFORMED POLICY NETWORK (EVIPNet)

EVIPNet promotes the systematic use of health research evidence in policy-making.

The network promotes partnership at country level between policy-makers, researchers and civil society in order to facilitate both policy development and policy implementation through the use of the best scientific evidence available. EVIPNet composes networks that bring together country-level teams, coordinated at both regional and global levels.

#### Authors

Marcela Ţîrdea, Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova

Angela Ciobanu, WHO Country Office in the Republic of Moldova

Galina Obreja, Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy

#### Funding

Evidence brief for policy and capacity-building workshops were carried out to develop the evidence brief for policy, with support of the WHO Country Office in the Republic of Moldova, WHO Regional Office for Europe and EVIPNet Europe within the framework of the Biennial Collaboration Agreement between the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Moldova and the WHO Regional Office for Europe, and as part of the "Support to strengthening governance and policy dialogue in health sector – 2nd phase", funded jointly by the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation and WHO.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that they have no professional or commercial interest related to the evidence brief for policy. Development partner that has provided support in developing Evidence brief for policy note has no role in identifying, appraising, synthesizing or including evidences in evidence brief for policy.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This evidence brief for policy was reviewed by researchers and policy-makers to ensure its scientific rigour and relevance for the health system. The authors are grateful to Dr Harriet Nabudere, knowledge translation researcher and practitioner, Makerere University, Uganda; Tomas Pantoja, Department of Family Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Catolica de Chile; Carina Ferreira-Borges, programme manager, WHO European Office for Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases; Joana Madureira Lima, WHO consultant; the Department of Public Health at the Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection; and the National Agency for Public Health of the Republic of Moldova for their feedback and comments.

The authors wish to thank Dr Fadi El-Jardali and Ms Rana Saleh from the Knowledge to Policy (K2P) Center, Lebanon, for mentoring the authors in preparing this evidence brief for policy, sharing their experience and providing feedback throughout the development of the brief. The authors would also like to thank the WHO Country Office in the Republic of Moldova for the support provided. They are grateful to Ms Tanja Kuchenmüller, coordinator of the EVIPNet Europe Secretariat, for her guidance and technical support. The views expressed in the brief do not necessarily represent those of the individuals named above.

## MAIN MESSAGES

#### The problem

In the Republic of Moldova, alcohol is readily accessible to the population, even children, leading to high consumption levels and thus burdening both the population and society as a whole with alcohol-related negative health and economic consequences. This problem is amplified by incomplete, inadequate and improperly implemented regulations related to policies on alcohol pricing, advertising bans, and unrestricted access to beer, wine and wine products in retail outlets.

#### Approaches to solving the problem

#### Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages

- Restrictions on alcohol sales are a cost-effective intervention to control damage caused by alcohol consumption; however, their effectiveness is enforcement dependent.
- o Other effective policy measures, alongside regulating alcohol trading hours, include a government monopoly on alcohol sales, a retail licensing system defining specific opening times, and an increase in the minimum legal drinking age (MLDA).

#### Approach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages

- o Policies on advertising should be implemented within the context of a thorough monitoring and evaluation programme.
- o Advertising restrictions should be implemented among other preventive measures.
- o Advertising bans are only effective when they are implemented in full.
- o Voluntary regulation of advertising is not effective.

#### Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation and prices of alcoholic beverages

- o The price policy is among the most cost-effective alcohol control intervention.
- Introducing a minimum unit price MUP can complement taxation policies, in the context of appropriate studies to identify specific parameters for maximum effect.

#### Implementation considerations

In order to ensure the approval of the draft law on alcohol control policies, a variety of implementation considerations must be taken into account at the individual, professional, organizational and system levels.

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

#### The problem

In the Republic of Moldova, alcohol is readily accessible to the whole population, even children, leading to high consumption levels and a number of alcohol-related negative health and economic consequences. This problem is amplified by incomplete, inadequate and improperly implemented regulations related to policies on alcohol pricing and advertising bans, as well as unrestricted access to beer, wine and wine products in retail outlets.

#### Magnitude of the problem

Alcohol is the third risk factor for disease burden in the country, and 10% of deaths were caused by consumption of alcoholic products, which is twice as high as the global average. About 56% of deaths from liver cirrhosis, 9% of cancer deaths, 25% of deaths from cardiovascular disease and 51% of intentional injuries (as a result of deliberate acts of violence against oneself or others) and unintentional injuries (including road traffic injuries, drowning, burns, poisoning and falls) are attributable to alcohol consumption.

One in five alcohol consumers aged 18–69 years are episodic heavy drinkers: 29% of men and 9.2% of women consume six or more servings of alcohol at least once a month. In 2014, 28% of children aged 11 years, 43% of children aged 13 years, 73% of children aged 15 years and 82% of young people aged 17 years had consumed alcohol at least once in their lifetime. One in ten children aged 11 years, one in four children aged 13 years, 44% of children aged 15 years and 59% of young people aged 17 years had been drunk at least once in their lifetime. About 46% of pupils in the 8th and 9th grades (children aged around 16 years in the Republic of Moldova) can easily or very easily get at least one alcoholic beverage. Pupils in large urban centres (58%) can get alcoholic products more easily than those in small urban areas (49%) and rural areas (42%).

#### **Underlying factors**

Several factors – both individual and societal in nature – are associated with widespread access to alcohol and high consumption levels.

In the Republic of Moldova, beer, wines and wine products are sold in retail outlets without restriction in terms of availability (that is, 24/7). Moreover, the evidence indicates that alcohol use is directly determined by the amount of alcohol sold; higher alcohol sales are associated with higher mortality and morbidity caused by alcohol consumption. Furthermore, advertising of alcoholic beverages remains a problem, as the current regulation only prohibits direct advertising of alcoholic beverages, direct and indirect advertising intended for minors, and advertising in institutions for children, educational

institutions and medical facilities. No comprehensive law exists banning alcohol advertising. Despite the abundance of data showing the cost–effectiveness of pricing policies in alcohol consumption reduction, this has not translated into effective alcohol control public policies in the Republic of Moldova.

#### Approaches to solving the problem

WHO has called upon all Member States (including the Republic of Moldova) to address alcohol-related harm by requesting implementation of effective harm-reduction interventions. In Europe in the period 2006–2010 education and community actions in the area of alcohol control policies expanded rapidly; however, the policies on pricing and advertising control grew weaker and, according to analysis carried out by the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, this was "simply the wrong way round". Some evidence-based interventions are outlined in the subsections below. These have proven to be effective in alcohol consumption control and should be part of national legislation on alcohol control.

#### Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages

Four systematic reviews of the time at which alcohol was sold have indicated the effectiveness of the restrictions on alcohol sales. One such systematic review concluded that the reduction of alcohol selling time decreases damage caused by alcohol consumption, both when the hours during which alcohol is sold are reduced, and the days on which it is sold. Furthermore, an overview of the systematic reviews concluded that the application of alcohol sale restrictions is a cost-effective intervention, and this is certainly also applicable to the Republic of Moldova.

Evidence from one systematic review established that the reduction of alcohol sales during night hours could significantly decrease the rate of violence and damage attributable to alcohol consumption.

According to the systematic reviews, alcohol sales in retail outlets can be regulated by having an MLDA and by implementing a government monopoly or a licensing system for alcohol sales. Raising the MLDA correlates with a decrease in road traffic accidents, and, inversely, reducing the MLDA is associated with more car crashes. Government monopolies on alcohol sales have proven to reduce alcohol-related harm by reducing the number of retail outlets, in comparison with the privatization of alcohol retail. In countries in which government monopoly is not possible, a licensing system for retail outlets with specific opening hours and days can reduce alcohol consumption and its related harms.

However, controlling alcohol sales from retail outlets can lead to the activation of an informal market, including illegal imports, smuggling and home production. Nonetheless, these can be tackled through various enforcement measures.

#### Approach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages

There is consistent evidence that adolescent exposure to alcohol advertising and promotion is strongly associated with early initiation and engaging in binge and hazardous drinking. Evidence from systematic reviews concluded that stricter regulations on advertising are associated with lower prevalence of hazardous drinking and a lower number of traffic accidents resulting from alcohol consumption. Advertising restrictions are an appropriate intervention for low-resource settings.

A meta-analysis concluded that measures from advertising restrictions up to a ban should be implemented as part of a research programme that is of high quality, well monitored and evaluated. Also, bans are only effective when they are fully implemented (not fragmented) within the framework of comprehensive laws, including systematic monitoring of the influence of the alcohol industry on legislation. To increase effectiveness and to reduce the harms of alcohol use for population health, advertising restrictions should be part of a complex system of measures, including *inter alia* price increases and limiting the availability, accessibility and affordability of alcohol.

According to the evidence, existing systems of voluntary regulation do not meet the goal of protecting vulnerable populations from alcohol marketing. A systematic review confirmed that self-regulation of advertising by advertisers can provide subjective interpretations and fail to (i) protect vulnerable groups (namely children and adolescents) from exposure to alcohol and (ii) avoid advertising messages that encourage irresponsible and excessive alcohol consumption.

#### Approach 3. Regulation of excise taxation and pricing on alcoholic beverages

An overview of the (two) systematic reviews and (one) meta-analysis concluded – with robust evidence to support the conclusion – that price policy is among the most cost-effective alcohol control interventions that can reduce alcohol consumption and bring about a significant decrease in alcohol-related morbidity and mortality. Doubling alcohol tax is associated with an average decrease in alcohol-related mortality of 35%, deaths in traffic accidents decreasing by 11%, sexually transmitted diseases decreasing by 6%, violence by 2% and crime by 1.2%.

Systematic reviews found that a 10% increase in alcohol price can reduce alcohol consumption by 2–10%. In addition, heavy drinkers are not highly sensitive to price increases, since they can shift to cheaper alcoholic products, and such behaviour is typical across the age groups, and is the same for both male and female heavy drinkers.

Implementing an MUP is an alternative solution for excise taxation, in particular for cheap alcohol, and would therefore be more likely to impact heavy drinkers (especially those in the low-income quintiles). Furthermore, contextualized studies should be conducted to identify which beverages should be subjected to an MUP or taxation, since tax increases on specific beverages resulted in different outcomes across different countries.

#### Implementation consideration

Implementation considerations are discussed in detail for each approach in the chapters that follow, in order to ensure that the commitment set out in the Action Programme of the Government of the Republic of Moldova 2016–2018 (approving the package of laws on alcohol control and increasing excise duties on alcoholic beverages) will be achieved.

### **DEFINING THE PROBLEM**

In the Republic of Moldova, alcohol is readily accessible to the whole population, even children, leading to high consumption levels and a number of alcohol-related negative health and economic consequences. This problem is amplified by incomplete, inadequate and improperly implemented regulations related to alcohol pricing policies, advertising-ban policies and unrestricted access to beer, wine and wine products in retail outlets.

Efforts relating to the promotion and approval of regulations on alcohol consumption control policies in the Republic of Moldova (Box 1) should focus on the following issues: (i) how the problem was brought to light; (ii) the magnitude of the problem; (iii) the consequences of the problem; (iv) which factors determine the access to and consumption of alcohol.

#### How was the problem brought to light?

The problem came to light through the Action Programme of the Government of the Republic of Moldova 2016–2018 (Government of the Republic of Moldova, 2016b). This government programme aims to approve a set of laws on alcohol control and increase excise duties on alcoholic beverages. Thus the Government is aiming to reduce the burden of alcohol consumption on society and the health system and to approximate the structure of excise duties on alcohol in European Union (EU) legislation; this will be aligned with the requirements of the EU law on the harmonization of the structures of excise duties on alcohol and alcoholic beverages (Council of the European Union, 1992), according to the commitments set out in the Association Agreement between the EU and the Republic of Moldova (EU, 2014), ratified by Law No. 112 of 2 July 2014. As well as to ensure the implementation of committed policy options at international and regional levels as stipulated in the Global Strategy to Reduce the Harmful Use of Alcohol (WHO, 2010b), Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020 (WHO, 2013), European Action Plan to Reduce the Harmful Use of Alcohol 2012-2020 (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2012) and the Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases in the WHO European Region 2016-2020 (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2016).

#### Box 1: What are alcohol control policies?

Alcohol consumption control policies are described in alcohol policy documents as laws, regulations and practices used to reduce excessive alcohol consumption and its harmful effects in society.

Such policies can include the presence or absence of supporting legislation and/or operational aspects reflecting their implementation and execution, as well as allocation of resources at national level (e.g. taxation, density of commercial outlets) (Nelson et al., 2013).

The inclusion of this commitment in the Action Programme of the Government of the Republic of Moldova was determined as a result of several shortcomings in the current legislation relating to alcoholic beverages. Since 2012 the Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection has been working to promote and approve a draft law to try to address some of these inadequacies, but has not yet succeeded.

The Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection therefore drafted a legislative act – using the available evidence (Box 2) – outlining possible options to address the shortcomings in the legislation, to be submitted to Parliament for discussion and approval, along with an evidence brief for policy (EBP) as supporting justification.

#### What is the magnitude of the problem?

Alcohol is one of the four main behavioural risk factors for noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), affecting many systems and organs in the human body (Box 3). Alcohol consumption levels in the Republic of Moldova are among the highest in the WHO European Region, although in recent years a slight decrease has been recorded, from 16.8 litres of pure alcohol per capita in 2010, to 16.3 litres in 2014 (WHO, 2014; Shield, Rylett & Rehm, 2016), to 15.2 litres in 2018 (according to data from the WHO Global Health Observatory (GHO)).<sup>1</sup> National data show that

#### Box 2: Mobilizing the evidence relating to the problem

The evidence relating to the problem was sought in the published scientific literature, as well as in other not scintific sources. Scientific publications were searched for within the HINARI Programme, including in PubMed, and informal/ unpublished literature was identified by accessing the websites of national and not scintific, such as the Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova, the National Bureau of Statistics, the National Centre for Health Management, the Broadcasting Coordination Council, and WHO.

Priority was given to the most recent publications and those developed in or about the Republic of Moldova.

#### Box 3: What is alcohol?

Alcohol (ethylic alcohol, ethanol) is a chemical substance ( $C_2$ -H<sub>6</sub>-O), present in beer, wine and other alcoholic beverages, as well as certain medicines, mouthwash, household products and essential oils (liquid fragrance extracted from plants). It is a volatile liquid prepared through the fermentation of carbohydrates. Alcohol is used as depressant of the central nervous system, diuretic and disinfectant. This agent destroys organisms by denaturing proteins (NCI, 2017).

Ethanol mainly affects the liver and the digestive tract, followed by the cardiovascular and neurological systems. The consumption of alcohol in small doses (10–20 g of pure alcohol per day) could increase the incidence of dilated cardiomyopathy, cancer and road accidents, and could lead to alcohol addiction, reducing any potential benefits. Evidence shows that the moderate consumption of alcohol (up to 20 g of pure alcohol per day) reduces the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in people with a healthy lifestyle and those with a Mediterranean diet (Fernández-Solà, 2015).

<sup>1</sup> The GHO is WHO's portal providing access to data and analyses for monitoring the global health situation (WHO, 2018).

69% of the population consume wine, 19% consume beer and 8% of the population aged 16–55 years prefer strong alcoholic beverages (Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection, 2015).

Prevalence of heavy drinking is also high in the Republic of Moldova. One in five alcohol consumers aged 18–69 years (19.5%) are episodic heavy drinkers;<sup>2</sup> that is, 29.0% of men and 9.2% of women consume, at least once a month, six or more servings of alcohol (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2014b).

Furthermore, alcohol consumption among young people in the Republic of Moldova is high and increasing. National data show that in 2014, 28% of children aged 11 years, 43% of children aged 13 years, 73% of children aged 15 years and 82% of young people aged 17 years had consumed alcohol<sup>3</sup> at least once in their lifetime (Lesco, 2015). In 2012, 73% of children and adolescents aged 10–19 years consumed alcohol. Moreover, in 2014, 13.5% of boys and 7.4% of girls aged 11–17 years drank homemade wine weekly or more often, and 8.3% of boys and 2.0% of girls drank beer weekly or more often (Lesco, 2015). In 2012, only 6.4% of adolescents aged 10–19 years consumed alcohol weekly or more often. One in ten children aged 11 years, one in four children aged 13 years, 44% of children aged 15 years and 59% of young people aged 17 years had been drunk at least once in their lifetime (Lesco, 2015).

This increase is probably due to the fact that alcohol (including homemade wine) is highly accesibile to children in the Republic of Moldova. According to the evidence studied, about 46% of pupils in the 8th and 9th grades in the Republic of Moldova (children aged 16 years) can easily or very easily get access to at least one alcoholic beverage, and only 15% said that it was impossible to do so. Pupils in large urban centres (58%) can get alcoholic products more easily than those in small urban areas (49%) and rural areas (42%). The national evidence indicates that 35.5% of pupils can easily or very easily get alcopops; 29.9% of pupils can get wine; 27.4% of pupils can get beer; and 10.8% can get strong alcoholic beverages (spirits). As an exception, in large urban centres, the accessibility of various types of alcoholic beverage varies: the most accessible is also alcopops (46.0%), followed by beer (37.0%), wine (34.2%), and spirits (14.9%) (National Centre for Health Management & EMCDDA, 2016).

Alcohol consumption patterns in the country are similar in international comparison. Based on data about recorded alcohol consumption, of the total of 6.3 litres of pure (registered) alcohol consumed per capita in the Republic of Moldova, 65% is spirits drinks, 30% is beer and 5% is wine (WHO, 2014). Beer consumption has been constantly increasing since the early 2000s, while wine consumption has been decreasing, despite the fact that the Republic of Moldova is traditionally a wine-producing country (WHO, 2014).

At the global level, the most consumed alcoholic drinks are spirits, reaching 50.1% of consumed (registered) alcohol, followed by beer at 34.8%, and 8% of the registered alcohol consumed is wine. In the WHO European Region, wine represents a quarter of registered alcohol consumption (25.7%) (WHO, 2014). Evidence indicates that globally the alcoholic

<sup>2</sup> Episodic heavy drinkers are men who had five or more drinks, and women who had four or more drinks on any day in the past 30 days (WHO, 2010a).

<sup>3</sup> This is according to a knowledge, attitudes and practices (KAP) survey carried out in 2012 by the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) in the Republic of Moldova; the results of which are yet to be published.

beverage consumption habits have changed in all Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries, with wine consumption increasing in many countries in which beer is traditionally consumed, and vice versa. Wine-producing countries such as France, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Portugal, the Slovak Republic, Spain and Switzerland recorded a decrease in wine consumption per capita by 20% or more since 1990 (Sassi, 2015).

#### What are the consequences of the problem?

International evidence indicates that alcohol consumption can have both protective and detrimental effects on health (Sassi, 2015). At population level, studies on the global burden of diseases, however, show that the negative effects surpass the positive effects in all countries (Lim et al., 2012). The balance between protective and adverse effects needs to be taken into account for each individual case (Fernández-Solà, 2015).

Evidence indicates some level of causal relationship between alcohol consumption and more than 200 diseases and injuries (WHO, 2014). Alcohol results in NCDs, including cancer, CVD and liver diseases; as well as communicable diseases – that is, increasing the risk of HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and community-acquired pneumonia. Many types of intentional and unintentional injuries also occur in correlation with alcohol consumption, including murders and suicides. Furthermore, alcohol causes harm to others, including those who do not (or have not) consume(d) alcohol, either through violence in the street, domestic violence, or simply through use of government resources – particularly the costs of providing medical care, unemployment and incapacity benefits, and those associated with crime and disturbances (Anderson, Møller & Galea, 2012).

In the Republic of Moldova alcohol is the third risk factor for disease burden (after blood pressure and body weight) and 10% of deaths were caused by consumption of alcoholic products, which is twice the global average (5%). Of the total number of deaths caused by alcohol consumption (3976), 2551 were among men and 1425 among women (IHME, 2015).

Recent data show that in the Republic of Moldova about 56% of deaths from liver cirrhosis, 9% of cancer deaths, 25% of CVD-related deaths and 51% of injuries are attributable to alcohol (Shield, Rylett & Rehm, 2016). Maria Sklodowska-Curie Memorial Cancer Centre and the Institute of Oncology in Warsaw indicate that 25% of the difference in life expectancy at middle age (individuals aged 20–64 years) between the countries to the east and the west of the EU is attributable to alcohol consumption (Zatonski, 2008).

In 2015, 142 traffic accidents in the Republic of Moldova were caused by drunk drivers, resulting in 24 deaths and 188 people experiencing various traumas. Furthermore, 3689 cases of people driving while intoxicated were documented (General Police Inspectorate, 2016).

Of the 63.4% of women in the Republic of Moldova who had been subjected to violence (psychological, physical or sexual) by their husband/partner during their lifetime, every second woman stated that the main problem was their partner's excessive alcohol consumption (NBS, 2011).

Globally, alcohol is the sixth risk factor for disease burden, which in 2013 caused just over 2.78 million deaths and resulted in just over 99.27 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs). Both indicators have increased compared to the year 1990, in which about 1.97 million deaths and almost 76.03 million DALYs were recorded (Forouzanfar et al., 2015).

The costs associated with alcohol consumption account for about 1% of gross domestic product (GDP) in high- and middle-income countries, and if the social costs are also taken into account, their share is even higher (Rehm et al., 2009).

The evidence shows that in the EU, costs arising from road accidents in 2003 caused by alcohol abuse amounted to  $\in$ 10 billion, and the crimes directly attributable to alcohol consumption amounted to  $\in$ 33 billion (Anderson & Baumberg, 2006). In 2012 in the United Kingdom alone the economic losses caused by road accidents while intoxicated were estimated at £1.5 billion, equating to about 10% of the cost of all road accidents, including loss of production as a result of accidents, the cost of ambulance and hospital treatment, vehicle and property damage, police and other human costs, and accident insurance administrative costs (Sassi, 2015).

Regarding violence, identical data are provided by the Crime Survey for England and Wales, which indicates that one in every two victims of violence believe that the offender was drunk (Sassi, 2015). In England, the estimated annual costs caused by crimes and antisocial behaviour related to alcohol amounted to about £7.3 billion in 2004, with those involving productivity losses equating to about £6.4 billion (Prime Minister's Strategy Unit, 2004).

#### What factors influence access to and consumption of alcohol?

Several factors – both individual and societal in nature – are associated with widespread access to alcohol and high consumption levels. At the individual level these include: age, gender, family factors and socioeconomic status. At the societal level, alcohol consumption is influenced by the stage of development of the society, along with culture and the context of alcohol control policies and regulation of consumption (WHO, 2014).

#### The sale of alcohol in retail outlets

The evidence indicates that alcohol use is directly determined by the amount of alcohol sold; higher alcohol sales are associated with higher mortality and morbidity caused by alcohol consumption (Popova et al., 2009). The hours and days on which alcohol is marketed, the minimum age of individuals to which alcohol can be marketed, the location of information on alcohol units, and the licensing system all directly impact the amount of alcohol consumed (Sassi, 2015; WHO, 2014). In the Republic of Moldova, beer, wines and wine-based products are sold in retail outlets without restrictions (that is, 24/7) and the alcohol industry has been involved in alcohol policy decisions, namely those related to regulation of availability and affordability of alcoholic beverages.

Beer is exempt from the regulations relating to the production and circulation of ethyl alcohol and alcoholic products (Article 3(2) of Law No. 1100-XIV of 30 June 2000), which permits the sale of it in retail outlets without restrictions in the Republic of Moldova. Wines and products produced from wine hold the same status (Articles 2(1) and 3(1) of Law No. 1100-XIV of 30 June 2000).

The exemption of beer and wine from restrictions on the selling of alcoholic beverages has come about as a result of the influence of the alcohol industry, an important actor in policy development, including the applicability of regulations on alcohol consumption control, particularly in Europe (Gilmore, 2015). During the period 2006–2010, education and community

actions in the area of alcohol control policies expanded rapidly in Europe, supported by the alcohol industry. At the same time policies on pricing and advertising control grew weaker and, according to analysis carried out by the Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, this was "simply the wrong way round" (Gornall, 2014).

In the Republic of Moldova, the alcohol industry participates actively in the meetings of the working group for regulating entrepreneurial activity,<sup>4</sup> discussing the regulatory impact analysis resulting from alcohol control policies. International evidence has concluded that the industry should not be involved in the decision-making process, particularly as it relates to control measures, as it could affect decisions in its own favour (Anderson, 2009; Vendrame & Pinsky, 2011).

#### **Marketing policies**

The combined evidence suggests that alcohol advertising increases the overall consumption of alcohol and this effect is greater for heavy alcohol consumers (Sassi, 2015). According to the published literature, advertising and promotion of alcoholic beverages increase the likelihood that adolescents will start using alcohol, and will consume more alcohol if they already drink (Anderson et al., 2009a). Young people drinking beer – who are susceptible to alcohol advertising and loyal to brands – are more likely to become heavy alcohol users later (Connolly et al., 1994). Advertising has the maximum effect over time on heavy alcohol drinkers (Ross, 2014).

A systematic review indicates that displaying adverts relating to alcohol (even without images) may increase alcohol consumption immediately,<sup>5</sup> in small amounts. Furthermore, the viewing of media images of alcohol consumption in a positive context and with positive consequences seems to increase the general connection with alcohol and the expectations that alcohol consumption will lead to positive results (Stautz et al., 2016).

Advertising and marketing through different media outlets and channels have also proven to be associated with increased alcohol consumption. Robinson et al. came to the conclusion that for each additional hour spent watching TV (where alcohol is shown) per day, the risk of initiating alcohol consumption increases by 9% over the next 18 months (Robinson, Chen & Killen, 1998). Similarly, Sargent et al. found that for an additional hour of exposure to alcohol in popular films, the probability of trying to consume alcohol during the next 13–26 months increases by 15% (Sargent et al., 2006). Exposure to beer in retail outlets also foretells the initiation of beer consumption during the following two years (Robinson, Chen & Killen, 1998; Sargent et al., 2006; Ellickson et al., 2005). Moreover, advertising directly influences consumption frequency among young people, including advertising on the internet and social media platforms (Scott et al., 2016). One study ascertains the existence of a reciprocal

<sup>4</sup> The activity of the working group is safeguarded by the Ministry of Economy (through Government Decision No. 1429 of 16 December 2008 (see Government of the Republic of Moldova, 2008)).

<sup>5</sup> Immediate consumption means consuming alcoholic beverages immediately after experimental manipulation, which includes the duration of presentation, number of portrayals, and/or duration of portrayals (Stautz et al., 2016).

relationship between the possession of goods representing the relevant alcohol brand (t-shirts and other branded items) and alcohol consumption itself (McClure et al., 2009).

This evidence is confirmed by another review, which indicates that exposure to advertising of alcoholic beverages can lead to an increase in immediate alcohol consumption in small quantities (from 0.39 to 2.67 alcohol units for men and from 0.25 to 1.69 units for women). However, no evidence was found to indicate that exposure to an image of alcohol in TV programmes or films has any effect on immediate alcohol consumption (Stautz et al., 2016). Evidence of a study (Koordeman, Anschutz & Engels, 2011) shows that heavy alcohol drinkers (having consumed >7 alcoholic drinks over the past week) consume more alcohol than moderate drinkers (≤ 7 drinks) because of exposure to alcohol advertising, while another study (Koordeman, Anschutz & Engels, 2012) found no difference in consumption between heavy and moderate alcohol drinkers.

A systematic review carried out in 2016 – involving 12 studies and about 35 200 subjects – indicated a significant association with exposure to, awareness of, engagement in and/ or responsiveness to alcohol marketing and the initiation of alcohol consumption, or with parties involving alcohol consumption (Jernigan et al., 2016). Morgenstern et al. arrived at the conclusion that children that are aware of alcohol brands and who have a favourite brand are 45% more likely to participate in parties involving alcohol compared to children who do not meet these criteria (Morgenstern et al., 2014). The same review indicated the following mediating factors associated with advertising alcohol consumption, which contribute to the influence of alcohol marketing on young people: exposure to alcohol marketing itself, positive expectations regarding alcohol consumption, interpersonal discussions and expectations regarding alcohol consumption resulting from advertising influence, and recognition of alcohol brands (Lobstein et al., 2017; Jang & Frederick, 2013; Hoffman et al., 2014; Siegel et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2015).

Furthermore, the evidence shows that the alcohol industry spends billions of dollars each year creating a positive image for alcohol brands (Sassi, 2015). Thus, for each additional alcohol advertisement viewed, the number of drinks consumed increases by 1%, while for each additional US\$ 1 per capita spent on alcohol advertising, the number of drinks consumed increases by 3% (Snyder, Fleming Milici & Slater, 2006; Smith & Foxcroft, 2009). In the EU, expenditure on TV advertising of alcoholic products has doubled since beer advertising was allowed, from €46 million in 2002 to €96 million in 2007 (de Bruijn, 2012). The producers of alcoholic beverages are concentrated in several large (predominantly beer production) companies, consolidating their presence in the market and their active involvement in promoting marketing policies (Hawkins et al., 2016).

Alcoholic beverages are advertised in the Republic of Moldova. Existing legislation only prohibits: direct advertising of alcoholic beverages (presenting alcohol consumption); direct and indirect advertising intended for minors; and advertising in institutions for children, educational institutions and medical facilities, including at a visibility distance and range of less than 100 metres (according to Article 19(1) of Law No. 1227-XIII of 27 June 1997).

Evidence from the Broadcasting Coordination Council shows that in 2009 several media sources received official public warnings for advertising beer and vodka (Broadcasting Coordination Council Decision No. 133 of 23 December 2009), while in 2015 only one source was detected and penalized (publicly warned) for advertising alcoholic products (Broadcasting Coordination Council Decision No. 5/31 of 03 March 2016). This indicates that the role of

the Broadcasting Coordination Council in monitoring and control of alcohol advertising is decreasing. It can be determined by the fact that Audiovisual Code of the Republic of Moldova does not clearly indicate the mechanism and periodicity of its monitoring function.<sup>6</sup>

#### The price of alcoholic beverages

Scientific evidence indicates that alcohol consumption is sensitive to price. Increasing the price of alcoholic beverages leads to less alcohol being consumed and, consequently, fewer adverse effects from alcohol (and vice versa). This is the case in both high-income and low-income countries (Anderson, Chisholm & Fuhr, 2009; Cook, Bond & Greenfield, 2014).

Study data indicate that alcohol consumption in the Republic of Moldova varies by welfare level and area of residence. Among women aged 15–49 years, alcohol consumption is more common in urban (61%) than rural areas (54%) and among women who belong to the richest households (64%) compared to the poorest households (57%). Among men, differences by level of welfare are similar to those found among women (ranging between 76% and 85%), while differences by area of residence (ranging between 78% and 81%) are less marked than among women (National Centre of Public Health & UNICEF, 2012).

Scientific evidence shows that demand for alcoholic beverages is inelastic by price (Gallet, 2007). Thus, increasing the price of alcohol leads to increasing revenues in the state budget (Anderson & Baumberg, 2006a). However, data from the Ministry of Finance show that in 2015 the state budget revenues from excise tax on alcoholic beverages amounted to MDL 532.907 thousand (1.2% of the national public budget), decreasing compared to 2014 and 2013, when these amounted to MDL 567.575 thousand (1.3% of the national public budget) and MDL 595.687 thousand (1.6%), respectively. Furthermore, the amount of financial resources received in the period 2011–2014 from excise tax on alcoholic beverages was lower than planned (Ministry of Finance, 2016). The Republic of Moldova, along with four other countries in the WHO European Region, is imposing an MUP on alcoholic beverages (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2014a).

The estimated average retail prices of alcoholic beverages (for 50 cl of beer, 75 cl of table wine, 70 cl of local spirits and 70 cl of imported spirits) in the Republic of Moldova in comparison with other countries in the WHO European Region are among the lowest for spirits of both local and imported brands, in the middle for beer, and among the highest for wine (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2014a). However, the retail price of one bottle of beer (50 cl) in the local market is equivalent to the same amount of bottled water and 10 cl of milk.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>6</sup> This is according to Article 40, paragraph 1, points d and d1 of Audiovisual Code No. 260 of 27 July 2006.

<sup>7</sup> The price of 50 cl of beer varies from 8 to 22 MDL (€0.41–1.14); 50 cl of bottled water varies from 7 to 15 MDL (€0.36–0.78), and 10 cl of milk varies from 9 to 21 MDL (€0.47–1.09).

## **PROBLEM-SOLVING APPROACHES**

Increased alcohol consumption is a multifactorial problem that requires a comprehensive solution at legislative level, involving public awareness programmes. However, this EBP focuses only on the following elements: retail trading hours (with a specific focus on wine and beer), alcohol advertising, and pricing of alcoholic beverages, to provide required evidence in support of the Ministry of Health legislation initiative (developed based on the concept of "best buys" (Bloom et al., 2011)), for a more comprehensive approach than the already existing policy options. At the same time, additional cost-effective policies must be considered to reduce alcohol consumption and related harms.

To facilitate discussions with stakeholders on approving the legislative package on alcohol control and increasing excise duties on alcoholic beverages (Government of the Republic of Moldova, 2016b), the following three options were chosen for thorough analysis as part of the EBP process (Box 4): (1) regulating retail trading hours for alcoholic beverages; (2) regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages; and (3) regulating excise duties on alcoholic beverages. The methodology used for data collection is specified in Box 5.

#### Box 4: The process of developing the EBP

The EBP, entitled *Informing amendments to the alcohol control legislation directed at reducing harmful use of alcohol in the Republic of Moldova*, has been developed to underpin the draft law related to alcohol control policies, which represents the Government's commitment, set out in the Action Programme of the Government of the Republic of Moldova 2016–2018 (Government of the Republic of Moldova, 2016b).

An open consultation process was used, with coordination from two deputy ministries, to identify a list of priority issues from among which the topic for the EBP was developed, focusing on the reduction of alcohol consumption. A working group was established from representatives of the Ministry and Health, Labour and Social Protection, and the State University of Medicine and Pharmacy. The coordinator of activities at country level was appointed head of the Ministry's Department of Analysis, Monitoring and Evaluation of Policies.

The first draft of the EBP was presented and discussed as part of the national policy dialogue conducted in November 2016. The researchers and public and civil society sectors represented at the policy dialogue decided by consensus to reshape the defined problem and prepare a new EBP. With mentoring from the Knowledge to Policy (K2P) Center, Lebanon, and collaboration with the WHO Secretariat of EVIPNet Europe, the new version was prepared by the EBP team and discussed at the policy dialogue in August 2017.

This EBP was reviewed by a number of researchers and policy-makers to ensure its scientific rigour and relevance for the health system. Reviewers included WHO, the EVIPNet Europe Secretariat, the K2P Center, the Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection's Department of Public Health, the National Centre of Public Health and the State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (Department of Social Medicine and Sanitary Management).

The EBP and the dialogue summary from August 2017 will be presented for discussion at the planned second policy dialogue to be organized at the Parliament of the Republic of Moldova.

This section provides evidence on what is known about these options, and the following section discusses possible barriers to the implementation of such options, along with strategies that could be applied to overcome the barriers identified.

#### Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages

#### **Overview and context**

This approach provides an overview of the evidence available about restricting trading hours for alcoholic beverages, especially beer and wine (as well as alcoholic products obtained from grapes), representing beverages sold without time-based limitation in the Republic of Moldova (Law No. 1100-XIV of 30 June 2000).

National data show that alcohol in the Republic of Moldova is easily accessible, especially among youth (National Centre for Health Management & EMCDDA, 2016). Meanwhile, international evidence shows that extending trade hours for selling alcoholic beverages leads to an increase in access (Sassi, 2015; WHO, 2014), a higher level of alcohol consumption and an increase in violent incidents (Anderson, Chisholm & Fuhr, 2009). A thorough review of scientific literature educes a direct relation between the time of alcohol sale, the quantity of consumed alcohol and the damage caused (Popova et al., 2009, Hahn et al., 2010; Middleton et al., 2010; Wilkinson, Livingston & Room, 2016).

#### Box 5: Collection of evidence on options identified as potential solutions to the problem

Evidence regarding approaches to solving the problem was found in the databases accessed via the HINARI Programme (Access to Research in Health, <u>http://www.who.int/hinari/en/</u>). Thus, systematic reviews that contained subject-related keywords in the title or in the abstract were collected. The keywords were: "alcoholic beverage", "alcohol consumption", "alcoholism", "alcohol abstinence", "alcohol-related disorders", "beer", "wine", "strong alcoholic beverages", "nutrition policy", "public policy", "health policy", "law", "laws", "legislation", "guidelines", "practical guidelines", "retail trade", "marketing", "social marketing", "advertising", "direct advertising", "mass media", "social media", "communication on health", "taxes", "excise duties", "fees".

Sources published during the period from 1 January 2007 to 10 December 2016 were analysed. If the number of sources found was deemed to be too small, the period was extended.

Key findings were extracted from each review identified, assessed by quality (the SURE assessment sheet was used; see Lewin et al., 2009), local applicability (the share of studies carried out in Europe and in low- and middle-income countries), equity aspects (the share of studies explicitly addressing priority groups), as well as by the amount of reviews focusing on a problem. Option-related evidence was later summarized and relevant interpretations regarding the key findings of the review authors were included, based on quality, local applicability, equity and the focus on the problem.

A total of 39 systematic reviews were identified. After reading the titles and abstracts of the identified systematic reviews, 24 of them were selected. Following content-related analysis, 21 systematic reviews were included in the EBP. An overview regarding the efficiency and cost–effectiveness of alcohol consumption reduction strategies was also included.

#### Results of the scientific literature review

Out of six systematic reviews that were found on the time of alcohol sale, four were included in the EBP (see annexes 1 and 2).

A systematic review (determinated to be of moderate quality) concluded that reducing alcohol selling time decreases damage caused by alcohol consumption (Popova et al., 2009); this was found to be the case both in terms of reduction of alcohol trade hours (Hahn et al., 2010) and the reduction of the days on which it is sold (Middleton et al., 2010). Furthermore, an overview of the systematic reviews concluded that applying alcohol sales restrictions is a cost-effective intervention (Anderson, Chisholm & Fuhr, 2009), and this conclusion also applies to the Republic of Moldova (Tîrdea et al., 2011).

Evidence from a systematic review of moderate quality established that reducing sales of alcohol during night hours could significantly decrease violence rates and damage caused by alcohol consumption. Results of studies carried out in Australia, Canada, Norway and the United States support interventions to reduce the alcohol trade hours, leading to a decrease in the damage caused by alcohol consumption (Wilkinson, Livingston & Room, 2016). The inverse is also true: one review concluded that extending alcohol trading hours by  $\geq$  2 hours actually causes damage induced by alcohol consumption. The same cannot be claimed for extending alcohol trade hours by <2 hours, owing to lack of evidence (Hahn et al., 2010).

Moreover, a systematic review of moderate quality showed that limiting the days on which alcohol is sold (for example, not selling it on Saturdays or Sundays) can reduce the damage caused by alcohol. The results of studies carried out in Norway, Sweden and the United States show that prohibiting alcohol sales for one day a week will serve as protection against damage caused by alcohol consumption. The evidence is consistent for selling alcohol both in shops, and in bars and restaurants. Legalizing alcohol sales on Saturdays and Sundays can increase alcohol consumption and its associated harms; for example, studies carried out in Australia, Greece, and Scotland (United Kingdom) show that legalizing alcohol trading on Sundays will lead to an increase in both alcohol consumption and the number of traffic accidents that occur under the influence of alcohol. The data from the analysis of road traffic accidents show that after lifting the prohibition of packaged alcohol sales on Sundays in New Mexico (United States), the rate of deaths from traffic accidents caused by alcohol increased by 42%, which resulted in US\$ 6 million in additional annual costs for that state (McMillan & Lapham, 2006). Furthermore, two studies applying experimental designs carried out in Sweden showed that reintroducing permission to sell alcohol on Saturdays (but maintaining prohibition on Sundays) would cause an increase in alcohol's negative effects as well (Middleton et al., 2010).

Alcohol retail trade can also be regulated by applying an MLDA and by having government monopolies or a licensing system (Ghandour et al., 2017). An MLDA reduces minors' access to alcohol (and therefore consumption), alcohol-related motor vehicle accidents and other alcohol-related problems (Komro & Toomey, 2002; Shults et al., 2001). Raising the MLDA in Canada from 18 to 19 years decreased car crashes by an estimated 6.2% (Callaghan et al., 2014). Inversely, reducing the MLDA is associated with road traffic accidents (Kypri et al., 2006). For example, lowering the MLDA in New Zealand from 20 to 18 years increased car crashes significantly among youth aged 15–19 years (Kypri et al., 2006). Government monopolies on alcohol sales have been proven to reduce alcohol-related harms (Anderson, Chisholm & Fuhr, 2009) by reducing the number of outlets responding to retail demand in comparison with privatization of alcohol retail trade (Holder, 2008). In countries where monopolies are not

#### EVIDENCE BRIEF FOR POLICY

possible, a licensing system for retail outlets – including specific opening hours and days – can reduce alcohol consumption and its related harms (Ghandour et al., 2017; Anderson, Chisholm & Fuhr, 2009).

The principal conclusions from the systematic reviews relevant for Approach 1 are summarized in Table 1.

## **Table 1.** Summary of the main conclusions from the systematic reviewsrelevant to Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages

| Category of the<br>conclusion   | Summary of the main conclusions   |
|---|---|
| Benefits  | <ul> <li>A systematic review concluded that the reduction of alcohol trading time leads to a decrease in damage caused by alcohol consumption (Popova et al., 2009); this conclusion is valid for the reduction of both alcohol trade hours (Hahn et al., 2010) and the days on which it is sold (Middleton et al., 2010).</li> <li>Evidence from a systematic review concluded that the reduction hours of alcohol trade at night could significantly decrease the rate of violence and damage caused as a result of alcohol consumption (Wilkinson, Livingston &amp; Room, 2016).</li> <li>Evidence from the cross-sectional analyses concluded that restricting the sale of alcohol is associated with reducing alcohol consumption in low- and middle-income countries, as well as in high-income countries. Thus, reducing the time during which alcohol can be sold reduces the current consumption of alcohol, the amount and frequency of use, the frequency of binge drinking and the volume of alcohol consumed (Cook, Bond &amp; Greenfield, 2014).</li> </ul> |
| Potential damages   | <ul> <li>No studies were found that specifically estimated the magnitude of commercial losses in sales and tax revenues resulting from a policy restricting alcohol sales hours (Hahn et al., 2010).</li> <li>One systematic review concluded that no studies were found estimating the losses caused by restricting the days on which alcohol is sold (Middleton et al., 2010).</li> <li>A systematic review suggested that illegal production and sales of alcohol could increase after introducing days on which alcohol trading is prohibited; however, no evidence of this is available (Middleton et al., 2010).</li> <li>Changing the days and hours of alcohol trade can lead to redistribution of the times at which alcohol-related road traffic accidents occur, which requires extra police work (e.g. additional/different shifts) (Anderson &amp; Baumberg, 2006a).</li> </ul>  |
| Resources, costs and/or<br>cost–effectiveness of the<br>intervention  | <ul> <li>Astudy conducted on the Republic of Moldova confirmed that alcohol trading restrictions are very cost-effective, with MDL 4589 per DALY saved (Tîrdea et al., 2011).</li> <li>An overview of the systematic reviews concluded that applying alcohol trading restrictions is cost-effective, saving I\$<sup>8</sup> 567 per DALY (with the cost per capita at I\$ 0.47 for some European countries) (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>Enhanced enforcement by police and regulatory authorities may involve substantial costs, but for effective programmes these costs may be offset entirely by cost savings in health services, as a result of the reduction in problems (Babor et al., 2010).</li> </ul>  |
| Uncertainty related to<br>potential benefits and<br>damages (whereby<br>monitoring and evalua-<br>tion could be justified if<br>the option is examined) | <ul> <li>The effectiveness of this approach is dependent on the level of enforcement (Flewelling et al., 2013).</li> <li>No studies were found.</li> </ul>  |

<sup>8</sup> An international Dollar [I\$] has the same purchasing power as an American Dollar (US\$) in the United States and is used as a common point of reference to compare costs from country to country.

| Key elements of the<br>policy option if it was<br>applied elsewhere | <ul> <li>An overview of the systematic reviews concluded that government monopolies on alcohol sales have been proven to reduce alcohol-related harms (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009) by reducing the number of outlets meeting retail demand in comparison with privatization of alcohol retail trade (Holder, 2008).</li> <li>In countries in which government monopoly is not possible, a licensing system for retail outlets with specific opening hours and days can reduce alcohol consumption and its related harms (Ghandour et al., 2017; Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>Evidence from the scientific literature concluded that an MLDA reduces minors' access to drinking, alcohol-related motor vehicle accidents and other alcohol-related problems (Komro &amp; Toomey, 2002; Shults et al., 2001). Raising the MLDA (e.g. in Canada, from 18 to 19 years of age) decreases car crashes (Callaghan et al., 2014), while reducing the MLDA (e.g. in New Zealand, from 20 to 18 years of age) increases car crashes significantly among youth (Kypri et al., 2006).</li> <li>The most effective means of enforcing the MLDA is to ensure the conformity of the sellers, who have a vested interest in retaining the right to sell alcohol (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> </ul> |
|---|--|
| Opinions and experience of the stakeholders                         | <ul> <li>The alcohol industry supports the elimination of alcohol sales restriction policies (Giesbrecht, 2000).</li> <li>Some industrial groups or individual enterprises support maintaining the prohibition of alcohol trading on Sundays (Hoover, 2008).</li> </ul>  |

#### Approach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages

#### **Overview and context**

This approach was identified to adduce arguments regarding the effects on consumption of banning advertising of alcoholic beverages and to present the conditions under which it produces these effects.

As already mentioned, alcoholic beverage advertising exists in the Republic of Moldova. According to the legislation in force, only direct advertising of alcoholic beverages (depicting the process of alcohol consumption) is forbidden.

#### Results of the scientific literature review

A total of 11 systematic reviews about the impact of alcohol advertising on alcohol consumption were found (with one systematic review in Portuguese). The EBP includes 10 systematic reviews (see annexes 1 and 3).

#### Legislative regulation of advertising

A systematic review of longitudinal studies found consistent evidence that adolescent exposure to alcohol advertising and promotion is strongly associated with the subsequent onset of alcohol use and engaging in binge and hazardous drinking (Andersen et al., 2009; Jernigan et al., 2016). The evidence concluded that similarities are emerging from reviews of the impact of tobacco and food marketing on young people (Andersen et al., 2009).

Another systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental studies found that exposure to alcohol advertising increases immediate alcohol consumption by 0.39–2.67 alcohol units for males and 0.25–1.49 units for females (Stautz et al., 2016). It was also found that repeated discrete exposures to alcohol advertising, each of which contributes to a small increase in consumption, cumulate into higher levels of consumption over time among more exposed people (Stautz et al., 2016).

A systematic review by Bryden et al. (2012) concluded that greater exposure to advertising is strongly associated with higher levels of alcohol consumption; by 50% in terms of likelihood of ever having had an alcoholic drink, and by 42% for the increase in alcohol consumption (Bryden et al., 2012).

In a 2010 published summary of the second edition of the book *Alcohol: no ordinary commodity* (Babor et al., 2010), the Alcohol and Public Policy Group reported that there is consistent evidence to show that alcohol marketing reduces the age of onset of drinking and increases consumption by those who are already drinkers (Siegfried et al., 2014).

A systematic review concluded that population-wide interventions, such as advertising bans, are more equitable than individual-level interventions aiming to reduce alcohol harm, which rely on health care professionals for delivery, arguing that advertising restrictions may be an appropriate intervention for resource-constrained settings (Siegfried et al., 2014).

Bosque-Prous et al. (2014) found that stricter marketing regulations were associated with a low prevalence of hazardous drinking among people aged 50–64 years in 16 European countries (Jernigan et al., 2016). Smith and Geller (2009) found 32.9% fewer youth traffic fatalities in United States jurisdictions with laws prohibiting alcohol advertising targeting minors, compared with states lacking such laws (Jernigan et al., 2016).

However, an overview of systematic reviews and meta-analysis concluded that effectiveness of alcohol advertising restrictions is still controversial, with inconclusive evidence in support of or against restricting alcohol advertising to reduce its consumption (Ghandour et al., 2017; Martineau et al., 2013; Siegfried et al., 2014). In the examples of studies assessing the effects of changing a total ban on alcohol advertising to a partial ban involving the volume of all forms of alcohol, sales decreased when the volume of spirits was decreased and the volumes of beer and wine were increased. The evidence advises that the results should be interpreted with caution (Siegfried et al., 2014).

A meta-analysis concluded that advertising controls – from restrictions to bans – should be implemented as part of a research programme that is of high quality, and well monitored and evaluated (Siegfried et al., 2014). Furthermore, and based on the experience of Lithuania in this field, bans are only effective when they are implemented in full (not fragmented) and supported by comprehensive laws, including systematic monitoring of the influence of the alcohol industry on legislation (Paukštė et al., 2014). Similarly, the National Institute for Health and

Clinical Excellence (NICE) recommended that marketing and advertising of alcoholic products, especially involving new media (e.g. web channels and smartphones), as well as product placement should be covered by a rigorous regulation system with continuous monitoring (NICE, 2010). Evidence from a systematic review concluded that stricter marketing regulation for alcoholic products is associated with a lower prevalence of hazardous alcohol consumption (Jernigan et al., 2016). Similarly, evidence from the cross-sectional analyses conducted for low- and middle-income countries concluded that tougher restrictions on alcohol advertising have the same effect as in high-income countries in terms of reducing the quantity and volume of alcohol consumption (Cook, Bond & Greenfield, 2014). A cross-sectional study across 16 European countries concluded that the countries with stricter alcohol advertising policies had lower prevalence of hazardous drinking, with a gradient effect (Bosque-Prous et al., 2014). Countries with no restrictions had a 30.6% prevalence of hazardous drinking; those with some restrictions in place had a 20.3% prevalence of such drinking; and the prevalence was 14.4% among countries with severe restrictions (Bosque-Prous et al., 2014). Comprehensive policy elements, from restricting alcohol marketing and advertising to banning, have been shown to be effective in reducing the early onset of alcohol consumption and the amount of alcohol use among adolescents (Ghandour et al., 2017).

#### Voluntary regulation of advertising

Furthermore, evidence shows that the existing systems of voluntary regulation do not meet the goal of protecting vulnerable populations from alcohol marketing (Noel & Babor, 2017; Noel, Babor & Robaina, 2017). A systematic review confirmed that self-regulation of advertising by advertisers can (a) provide subjective interpretations, and (b) fail to protect vulnerable groups (e.g. children and adolescents) from alcohol and advertising messages that encourage irresponsible and excessive alcohol consumption (Vendrame & Pinsky, 2011). Further systematic review evidence concluded that no evidence exists to indicate that voluntary regulation and partnerships between the alcohol industry and governments lead to the reduction of the harmful effects of alcohol (Babor et al., 2010; de Bruijn, Johansen & van den Broeck, 2010; Hastings et al., 2010; Anderson, Chisholm & Fuhr, 2009; Savell, Fooks & Gilmore, 2016). The alcohol industry uses as a tactic the slogan "responsible drinking" to capture the attention of alcohol researchers and people working in the public health field. However, the industry is also driven by the imperative for sales and profits, which is in fundamental conflict with the public health goal of reducing hazardous drinking and alcohol-related harm (Barry et al., 2010). Using imprecise slogans and other advertising tactics, the industry has cleverly turned the prevention message into a marketing tactic, which appeases critics and consumers, yet does not positively influence public health (Barry et al., 2010).

#### Applying the right approach and precautionary principle to alcohol advertising

The precautionary principle, used for marketing foods and non-alcoholic beverages to children to reduce children's exposure to unhealthy food promotion (Vienna Declaration, 2013) could be extended to alcohol marketing and the argument may be made for a ban on alcohol marketing, especially in schedules and venues where children can be directly or indirectly targeted (Martuzzi & Tickner 2004; Scott et al., 2016). This entails taking preventive action even in the face of uncertainty, to shift the burden of proof to the proponents of a potentially harmful activity, to offer alternatives to harmful actions, and to increase public involvement in decisionmaking.

When applied to alcohol policy, the precautionary principle implies that decision-making in areas such as international trade agreements, the introduction of new alcoholic products, the removal of restrictions on hours of sale, and the promotion of alcohol through advertising should be guided by the likelihood of risk, rather than the potential for profit. The application of the precautionary principle to alcohol policy will help to increase both public participation in the policy-making process and the transparency of decision-making (Babor et al., 2010).

The main conclusions from the systematic reviews relevant to Approach 2 are presented in Table 2.

# **Table 2.** Summary of main conclusions from the systematic reviews relevantto Approach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages

| Category of the conclusion  | Summary of the main conclusions   |
|---|---|
| Benefits  | <ul> <li>Evidence from a cross-sectional study established that stricter regulations on the marketing of alcoholic products is associated with a lower prevalence of hazardous alcohol consumption among individuals aged 50–64 years in 16 European countries (Bosque-Prous et al., 2014).</li> <li>The meta-analysis came to the conclusion that since the demand for alcoholic beverages is responsive to advertising (the most receptive type of alcohol being spirits), an advertising ban will reduce alcohol consumption, especially when focused on the mass media (most frequently used by producers of alcoholic beverages to target consumers) (Gallet, 2007).</li> <li>Evidence from the cross-sectional analyses conducted for low- and middle-income countries concluded that tougher restrictions on beer advertising reduce the quantity and volume of alcohol consumed; more severe restrictions on spirits reduce consumption and the total volume of alcohol consumed (Cook, Bond &amp; Greenfield, 2014).</li> <li>One systematic review concluded that restricting advertising may be an appropriate intervention for societies with resource constraints, where intervention effectiveness has been proven (Siegfried et al., 2014).</li> </ul> |
| Potential damages   | • None of the studies dealt with the adverse effects of banning alcohol advertising, such as revenue losses in the alcohol and advertising industries, a reduction in GDP caused by alcohol sales reductions, or job losses in marketing and advertising sectors caused by such a ban (Siegfried et al., 2014).   |
| Resources, costs and/<br>or cost–effectiveness<br>of the intervention | <ul> <li>Data from a study carried out in the Republic of Moldova shows that the ban on advertising alcoholic beverages is very cost-effective (MDL 3528 per saved DALY) (Tîrdea et al., 2011).</li> <li>An overview of the systematic reviews concluded that banning alcohol advertising is a cost-efficient intervention, with the cost of each DALY saved being less than 1\$ 970, both for Europe and for Latin America (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> </ul>   |

| Uncertainty related to<br>potential benefits and<br>damages (monitoring<br>and evaluation could<br>be justified if the<br>option is examined) | <ul> <li>According to one systematic review, neither prohibition of nor permission for alcohol advertising is necessary. It is recommended that the authorities introduce a credible monitoring and evaluation mechanism to demonstrate that a ban on alcohol advertising will reduce alcohol consumption (Siegfried et al., 2014). This can be demonstrated by the fact that a drop in beer sales was registered only 18 months after the ban on advertising was introduced, and that it only takes 6 months from the reintroduction of advertising to see a pattern of sales growth (Siegfried et al., 2014).</li> <li>Lithuania's experience with banning alcohol advertising led to the conclusion that bans are only effective when they are comprehensive (not fragmented, or partial), including systematic monitoring of the influence of the alcohol industry on legislation (Paukštė et al., 2014).</li> <li>One systematic review concluded that, given the expanding influence of the Internet and social media, it would be impossible to effectively implement a ban on advertising alcoholic beverages (Siegfried et al., 2014). The industry would still be able to invest in promoting their products though other, unrestricted approaches or avenues (Babor et al., 2010).</li> </ul> |
|---|--|
| Key elements of the<br>policy option if it was<br>applied elsewhere   | <ul> <li>An overview of the systematic reviews concluded that if the decision were to be made to introduce the ban on advertising, it would also be necessary to develop an action plan to implement this measure (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>One study concluded that restriction of advertising is most likely to be suitable for high-income countries, where there is longer life expectancy, a higher share of young people among the population, and/or where the majority of the population is Muslim (Gallet &amp; Andreas, 2011).</li> <li>One systematic review concluded that effects of a ban on advertising may be diluted by the dissemination of advertising in neighbouring countries, thus compromising the integrity of the intervention (Siegfried et al., 2014).</li> <li>Comprehensive policy elements of restricting alcohol marketing and advertising, including banning, have been shown to be effective in reducing the early onset of alcohol consumption and the amount of alcohol used among adolescents (Ghandour et al., 2017).</li> </ul>   |
| Opinions and<br>experience of the<br>stakeholders   | • No reviews provided information about stakeholders' views or experiences.  |

#### Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation and prices of alcoholic beverages

Eight systematic reviews were found on regulating excise duties on alcoholic beverages and all were included in the EBP (see annexes 1 and 4). An overview of the (two) systematic reviews and (one) meta-analysis concluded – with robust evidence to support the conclusion – that price policy is among the most cost-effective alcohol control interventions that can reduce alcohol consumption and bring about a significant decrease in alcohol-related morbidity and mortality (Bloom et al., 2011; Elder et al., 2010; Wagenaar, Salois & Komro, 2009; Wagenaar, Tobler & Komro, 2010). Doubling alcohol tax is associated with an average decrease in alcohol-related mortality by 35%, deaths in traffic accidents by 11%, sexually transmitted diseases by 6%, violence by 2% and crime by 1.2% (Wagenaar, Tobler & Komro, 2010). Evidence from both high-income countries and countries with low-to-middle incomes consistently confirmed that the price of alcohol is inversely associated with the quantity as well as the frequency and volume of alcohol consumed (Cook, Bond & Greenfield, 2014).

Despite the abundance of data showing the cost–effectiveness of strategies aiming to reduce alcohol consumption, such approaches are not translated into effective public alcohol control policies (Gilmore, Chikritzhs & Gilmore, 2013). This is even more evident in low- and middle-income countries (Casswell & Thamarangsi, 2009), including the Republic of Moldova, as determined by their limited capacity to generate the necessary scientific evidence, and their effectiveness in developing public health care policies (Santoro et al, 2015).

A systematic review of moderate quality carried out in 2013 showed that increasing the alcohol price by 10% can reduce the consumption of beer by 2.9%, of wine by 4.6%, of spirits by 5.4% and of alcohol overall by 4.9% (Nelson, 2013). Another systematic review of moderate quality indicated that consumption of beer can be reduced by 4.6%, wine by 6.9% and strong drinks by 8.0%. Increased alcohol prices also affect heavy drinkers, whereby the increase in price can reduce their consumption by 2.8% (Wagenaar, Salois & Komro, 2009). Another high-quality systematic review concluded that at societal level, an estimated 10% increase in alcohol price can reduce consumption by between 3% and 10%. The reduction is affected by factors such as available income and demand elasticity (Elder et al., 2010).

Similarly, a high-quality systematic review concludes that the justification for higher alcohol taxes to cover social costs is based on demand elasticity; in particular the demand elasticity for harmful or abusive alcohol consumers, as well as for specific drinks (e.g. beer) chosen by harmful alcohol consumers (Nelson, 2014). Nelson (2014) indicates that a 10% increase in the price of beer reduces consumption by 2%. This extremely inelastic estimation has important implications for how tax policy affects alcoholic beverages. Gallet (2007) indicates that demand for alcoholic beverages is price inelastic, especially in the short term (price increase leads to a smaller reduction of alcohol consumption), while price elasticity is the most inelastic in the case of beer (compared to wine and strong drinks). Price elasticity tends to be more inelastic when the price of tobacco products is included as a determinant of per-capita consumption at country level. Younger individuals are less responsive to price than older individuals (Gallet, 2007). Furthermore, Nelson (2015) indicated in a recent review that heavy drinkers are not highly sensitive to increased price, since they can choose cheaper alcoholic products instead. This is typical in both young people and older drinkers, and is the same for both male and female heavy drinkers (Nelson, 2015).

Evidence from the literature concluded that introducing an MUP or fixing a standard price per unit of alcohol (below which it cannot be sold) is an alternative solution for excise taxation, especially for cheap alcohol (Ludbrook, 2009; Sassi, 2015). The MUP would therefore be more likely to impact heavy drinkers than moderate drinkers. Furthermore, reducing alcohol consumption by heavy drinkers would benefit moderate drinkers as well, by reducing the burden of social costs and risks of secondary harm (Ludbrook, 2009). Evidence from a study conducted in Scotland established that implementing an MUP of 50p (£ 0.50) is estimated to reduce alcohol consumption by 3.5%; among harmful drinkers the reduction is estimated to be 7.0%, while the smallest effects would be seen among moderate drinkers (1.2%). To achieve the same reduction in deaths among hazardous and harmful drinkers, an estimated 28% increase in alcohol taxes is required (Angus et al., 2016). Also, alcohol taxation is considered to be regressive, while an MUP is not highly regressive and is effective than introducing specific taxes to reduce alcohol consumption, particularly for low-income population quintiles (Vandenberg & Sharma, 2016).

Furthermore, contextualized studies should be conducted to identify which beverages should be subjected to an MUP or taxation. Tax increases on specific beverages resulted in different outcomes in different countries. For example, a study conducted in Canada concluded that an increase by 10% in the MUP for specific beverages reduced consumption by 16.1%, whereas an increase by 10% in the MUP for all beverages resulted in a 3.4% decrease in consumption (Stockwell et al., 2012).

The main conclusions from the systematic reviews relevant to Approach 3 are summarized in Table 3.

| Category of the conclusion  | Summary of the main conclusions   |
|---|---|
| Benefits  | <ul> <li>An overview of the studies (2 systematic reviews and 1 meta-analysis) concluded (with robust supporting evidence) that price policy is among the most cost-effective alcohol control interventions to reduce alcohol consumption and engender a significant decrease in alcohol-related morbidity and mortality (Bloom et al., 2011; Elder et al., 2010; Wagenaar, Salois &amp; Komro, 2009; Wagenaar, Tobler &amp; Komro, 2010).</li> <li>4 systematic reviews concluded that a 10% increase in alcohol price can reduce alcohol consumption by 2–10% (Nelson, 2013, 2014; Wagenaar, Salois &amp; Komro, 2009; Elder et al., 2010).</li> <li>Doubling taxes on alcohol is associated with a decrease in alcohol-related mortality by 35%, in deaths in traffic accidents by 11%, in sexually transmitted diseases by 6%, in violence by 2% and in crimes by 1.2% (Wagenaar, Tobler &amp; Komro, 2010).</li> <li>One study concluded that establishing an MUP is estimated to reduce alcohol consumption by 3.5% on average (among harmful drinkers the reduction is estimated to be 7.0%, while the smallest effects would be seen among moderate drinkers, at 1.2%). To achieve the same reduction in deaths among hazardous and harmful drinkers, an estimated 28% increase in alcohol taxes would be required (Angus et al., 2016).</li> <li>Evidence from a study of low- and middle-income countries indicates that the price of alcohol is inversely associated with the quantity as well as the frequency and volume of alcohol consumed. Previous evidence showed that this type of phenomenon is specific to high-income countries (Cook, Bond &amp; Greenfield, 2014).</li> </ul> |
| Potential damage  | • Higher alcohol prices can result in product substitution (for cheaper beverages) or lead to alcohol smuggling (Lachenmeier, Taylor & Rehm, 2011).   |
| Resources, costs and/<br>or cost–effectiveness<br>of the intervention | <ul> <li>Data from a study carried out in the Republic of Moldova show that increasing excise duties on alcoholic beverages by 25% and 50% is very cost-effective (MDL 1627 and MDL 1647, respectively, per saved DALY). Reducing the amount of unregistered alcohol will result in a 50% increase in excise duties, being more cost-effective than a 25% increase in excise duties (Tîrdea et al., 2011).</li> <li>Anderson et al. indicated that increasing excise taxation from 20% to 50% is a very cost-effective intervention (each saved DALY costs less than 1\$ 500, both for Latin America and for Europe), which, as well increasing the price of alcohol, leads to increasing revenues in the state budget (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009). This is further backed by an overview of studies that concluded that price policy is among the most cost-effective alcohol control intervention for reducing alcohol consumption and producing a significant decrease in alcohol-related morbidity and mortality (Bloom et al., 2011).</li> </ul>   |

**Table 3.** Summary of main conclusions from the systematic reviews relevant toApproach 3. Regulation of excise taxation and prices of alcoholic beverages

| Uncertainty related to<br>potential benefits and<br>damages (monitoring<br>and evaluation could<br>be justified if the op-<br>tion is examined) | <ul> <li>In countries with a high level of production and consumption of unregistered alcohol, it is necessary to focus initially on the growth of the registered alcohol share of the market. Reducing unregistered alcohol consumption by 20–50%, by applying a coordinated implementation strategy, is estimated to be more expensive by 50–100% than increasing excise duties (but with the same effect) (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>Contextualized studies should be conducted to identify the appropriate MUP for specific beverages (Stockwell et al., 2012).</li> </ul>  |
|---|--|
| Key elements of the<br>policy option if it was<br>applied elsewhere   | <ul> <li>The reduced sensitivity of young people to the price of alcoholic beverages indicates that price interventions aiming to reduce alcoholic beverage consumption should be complemented by other interventions, such as: prohibiting sales of alcoholic beverages to young people; observing time limits on alcohol sales; banning advertising; implementing awareness campaigns; and so on (Gallet, 2007).</li> <li>Excise taxation needs to be adjusted according to inflation (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>The reduction of alcohol consumption resulting from increasing tax is affected by factors such as available incomes and demand elasticity (Elder et al., 2010).</li> <li>An MUP can complement taxation policies, in particular to impact heavy drinkers and people in the lower income quintiles (Ludbrook, 2009).</li> </ul> |
| Opinions and<br>experience of the<br>stakeholders   | • None of the systematic reviews identified any stakeholder opinions.  |

#### Equity-related observations about the approaches

#### Approach 1

Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages does not in itself have any bearing on specific aspects of inequity. The regulation to be introduced into national legislation will affect the entire population of the country (WHO, 2010b).

#### Approach 2

Population interventions, such as banning alcohol advertising, may be more equitable than interventions that focus on reducing the harmful effects of alcohol (such as those provided by physicians) (Doran et al., 2010).

Furthermore, evidence shows that the population groups most vulnerable to marketing and advertising of alcoholic beverages are children, adolescents and young people (Anderson et al., 2009; Smith & Foxcroft, 2009; Scott et al., 2016; Siegfried et al., 2014; Jernigan et al., 2016). The arguments of the alcohol industry that it does not promote alcoholic products to children are misleading; evidence to the contrary indicates that the alcohol industry marketing activity often appeals to young people and people aged under the MLDA (Babor et al., 2010; Jackson et al., 2000; Mosher & Johnsson, 2005; Jernigan et al., 2004; Savell, Fooks & Gilmore, 2016).

### Approach 3

Increasing excise taxation/prices of alcoholic beverages does not in itself have any significant social inequality implications (Nelson, 2014; Wagenaar, Salois & Komro, 2009; Nelson, 2015).

Furthermore, evidence from one systematic review concludes that increasing excise taxes on alcoholic beverages would have some negative effects on low-income individuals in the population (Elder et al., 2010). Evidence arising from mathematical modelling for England indicates that introducing an MUP or alcohol taxes based on alcohol content would (a) lead to greater reductions in health inequalities across all income groups and (b) have the greatest impact on harmful alcohol consumption, with minimal effects on those who consume moderate amounts of alcohol (Meier et al., 2016).

Similarly, higher excise taxes can produce direct benefits for people with low incomes, if the income generated by this is used to improve access to health services for uninsured people or those from vulnerable groups of the population (Elder et al., 2010).

## IMPLEMENTATION CONSIDERATIONS

The possible barriers to the implementation of the three policy approaches and strategies to overcome them are summarized in Table 4 (Approach 1), Table 5 (Approach 2) and Table 6 (Approach 3).

 Table 4. Barriers and strategies relating to Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of alcoholic beverages

| Level                        | Barriers  | Strategies  |
|------------------------------|---|---|
| Professional<br>level        | <ul> <li>Sellers may not comply with the time limit for the sale of alcohol.</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Enforcement should focus on alcohol retailers, who have a vested interest in retaining the right to sell alcohol (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>Enhanced enforcement by police and regulatory authorities may involve substantial costs, but for effective programmes these costs may be offset entirely by cost savings in health services resulting from the reduction in alcohol-related problems (Babor et al., 2010).</li> </ul> |
| Organiza-<br>tional level    | • The alcohol industry supports the elimination of al-<br>cohol sales restriction policies (Giesbrecht, 2000).  | • Some industrial groups or individual<br>enterprises support maintaining the<br>prohibition of alcohol sales on Sundays<br>(Hoover, 2008). Thus, these should be<br>identified and made partners in pro-<br>moting the draft law on alcohol control<br>policies (with a view to restricting sales).  |
|                              | • Illegal production and sale of alcohol could increase<br>(Middleton et al., 2010) the already large proportion<br>of unrecorded alcohol in the Republic of Moldova<br>(WHO, 2014).  | • Strict regulatory controls need to be applied to non-taxed alcohol (Anderson, Chisholm & Fuhr, 2009); and illegal alcohol production and sale can be prevented by means of enforcement strategies (Babor et al., 2010).   |
| System/<br>societal<br>level | <ul> <li>The drinking culture, social norms and public attitudes toward drinking can be barriers at system/ societal level (Anderson &amp; Baumberg, 2006b).</li> <li>Lack of prioritization of alcohol on the political agenda is a barrier (Anderson &amp; Baumberg, 2006b).</li> <li>Insufficient transparency and information, poor organization and preparation for the introduction of new policies and laws, inadequate financing, corruption, and public distrust of authority all make it hard to accept, integrate, implement and enforce effective policy (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>Outdated laws, as well as limited government resources and capacity to implement and enforce policies are barriers at system/societal level (Babor et al., 2010).</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>prehensive, keeping to a minimum any negative consequences resulting from perverse incentives (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (WHO, 2005) can inform alcohol control efforts and aid in protecting against vested interests in countries with high levels of corruption (Paukštė et al., 2014).</li> </ul>   |

 Table 5. Barriers and strategies relating to Approach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages

| Level                     | Barriers   | Strategies  |
|---------------------------|--|---|
| Individual<br>level       | <ul> <li>Advertising is accepted by the population because the adverse effects of alcohol consumption on health are not immediate and are not acknowledged, especially by teenagers and young adults (Winpenny et al., 2012).</li> <li>Evidence from a study conducted in the Republic of Moldova indicates that more than half of the drinkers who have seen some information or advertising about alcohol in the past year did not feel motivated to reduce alcohol consumption (59%) (Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection, 2015).</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Information and programmes with an<br/>educational focus can play an impor-<br/>tant role in raising awareness among<br/>youth about the negative consequenc-<br/>es of harmful alcohol drinking and un-<br/>derage drinking, as well as increasing<br/>attention to and acceptance of alcohol<br/>on national political agendas (Ander-<br/>son, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> </ul>   |
| Organizational<br>level   | <ul> <li>The alcohol industry (especially wine and beer companies), along with the advertising industry, are against banning advertising of alcoholic beverages. This resistance is explained by the direct impact of the marketing of alcoholic products, including advertising, on key alcohol consumption outcomes, e.g. initiation, continuation, frequency and intensity of alcohol consumption (Scott et al., 2016).</li> <li>Bans on alcohol advertising are often in effect alongside codes of industry self-regulation that specify the content of permitted forms of alcohol advertising (Babor et al., 2010).</li> <li>Using imprecise slogans and other advertising tactics, the alcohol industry has cleverly turned the prevention message into a marketing tactic that appeases critics and consumers, yet does not positively influence public health (Barry et al., 2010).</li> <li>The Broadcasting Coordination Council, tasked with monitoring the content of programmes broadcast by television and radio stations (Article 34, Parliament Decision No. 433 of 28 December 2006), has only limited capaciy to monitor the advertising of beverages in the mass media (Parliament of the Republic of Moldova, 2006).</li> <li>The expansion of the Internet and social media is a barrier to ensuring the regulation of alcohol advertising (Siegfried et al., 2014).</li> <li>Evidence from a survey indicates that in the Republic of Moldova about 68% of households have computers and are connected to the Internet (CBS-AXA, 2015); the number of users accessing the Internet via mobile phones is about 1.7 million, of which most are young people (Horten, 2016).</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>limit the influence of the alcohol industry on national law-making (Paukštė et al., 2014).</li> <li>Regulation should not be left to the alcohol industry's self-regulation efforts; nor should the industry be involved in the decision-making process about alcohol control measures, as they could try to affect the decisions in their favour (Anderson, 2009; Vendrame &amp; Pinsky, 2011).</li> <li>Nongovernmental organizations</li> </ul>   |
| System/<br>societal level | <ul> <li>The drinking culture, social norms and public attitudes toward drinking are barriers to successfully regulating advertising (Anderson &amp; Baumberg, 2006b).</li> <li>Lack of prioritization of alcohol on the political agenda is a barrier (Anderson &amp; Baumberg, 2006b).</li> <li>Insufficient transparency and information, poor organization and preparation for the introduction of new policies and laws, inadequate financing, corruption, and public distrust of authority all make it hard to accept, integrate, implement and enforce effective policy (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>Outdated laws, along with limited government resources and capacity to implement and enforce policies are barriers at system/societal level (Babor et al., 2010).</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Policies that are developed need to be comprehensive, keeping to a minimum any negative consequences resulting from perverse incentives (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (WHO, 2005) can inform alcohol control efforts and aid in protecting against the effects of vested interests in countries with high corruption levels (Paukštė et al., 2014).</li> <li>The precautionary approach should be considered in order to protect children and young people by strengthening advertising regulations (Scott et al., 2016).</li> </ul> |

Table 6. Barriers and strategies relating to Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation and prices of alcoholic beverages

| Level                                 | Barriers   | Strategies  |
|---------------------------------------|--|---|
| Individual<br>level                   | • Increasing excise taxes may not be support-<br>ed by consumers (Elder et al., 2010). Further-<br>more, it is unlikely to be effective to reduce<br>binge drinking, regardless of gender or age<br>group (Nelson, 2015).  | • Public support for increased alcohol taxes in-<br>creases substabtially when tax revenues are spe-<br>cifically directed to fund prevention and treat-<br>ment programmes, instead of being used as an<br>unrestricted source of general revenue (Elder et<br>al., 2010).   |
| Industry<br>level and<br>trade sector | <ul> <li>The alcohol industry can resist the increase in excise taxes on alcohol (Elder et al., 2010); distributors and trade enterprises do not accept any tax increase on alcohol.</li> <li>Some large companies can absorb the costs of raising excise taxes, so the retail price may not be increased (Sassi, 2015).</li> <li>The existence of a substantial illicit market for alcohol (smuggled, illegal, and informal) affects the link between taxation policies and affordability (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009) and the already large proportion of unrecorded alcohol in the Republic of Moldova (WHO, 2014).</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Science and research have a role in the development of a knowledge base on the risk factors and in creating evidence-based public policies (Vendrame &amp; Pinsky, 2011).</li> <li>Applying direct price controls, including setting MUPs, can be an effective strategy (Sassi, 2015).</li> <li>There should be an incentive for the distilleries to register with the state and to refrain from illegal production; the enforcement authorities need to be established to control the quality of the alcohol, as well as correct registration and other aspects of the businesses (such as hygiene) (Lachenmeier, Taylor &amp; Rehm, 2011).</li> <li>The approval of the Government of the Republic of Moldova of the "Technical concept of the automated information system 'Grape and wine-making register'", approved by Government Decision No. 282 of 11 March 2016 (Government of the Republic of Moldova, 2016a) is an effective strategy. The register will contain data on vineyard parcels with a surface area greater than 0.15 hectares, as well as on wine-growing units and the traceability of wine products (grape harvest, quantity of produced and stored products).</li> </ul> |
| System/<br>societal level             | <ul> <li>Lack of prioritization of alcohol on the political agenda is a barrier (Anderson &amp; Baumberg, 2006b).</li> <li>There is limited capacity for generating scientific evidence and its use in developing public health care policy (Santoro et al., 2015).</li> <li>Insufficient transparency and information, poor organization and preparation for the introduction of new policies and laws, inadequate financing, corruption, and public distrust of authority all make it hard to accept, integrate, implement and enforce effective policy (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>Outdated laws and limited government resources and capacity to implement and enforce policies are barriers at system/societal level (Babor et al., 2010).</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Policies that are developed need to be comprehensive, keeping to a minimum any negative consequences resulting from perverse incentives (Anderson, Chisholm &amp; Fuhr, 2009).</li> <li>A comprehensive strategy with sustained investment in the training and career development of researchers must be put in place. International collaboration and investment in mechanisms to bridge the gap between research and policy are urgently required (Santoro et al., 2015).</li> <li>The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (WHO, 2005) can inform alcohol control efforts and aid in protecting against the effects of vested interests in countries with high corruption levels (Paukštė et al., 2014).</li> </ul>  |

## **NEXT STEPS**

The aim of this EBP is not to advocate for any specific policy approaches or to conclude the discussion, but rather to foster dialogue informed by the best available evidence, allowing further actions to flow from the deliberations that ensue among policy-makers and stakeholders. Such deliberations might include refining elements of the policy approaches described in the EBP, for example by incorporating, removing or modifying some components.

The Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova has therefore scheduled a technical-level policy dialogue with representatives from relevant ministries and authorities, as well as nongovernmental organizations. The EBP and the dialogue summary will be presented for discussion at the second policy dialogue that is planned to be organized at the Parliament of the Republic of Moldova.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Anderson P (2009). Global alcohol policy and the alcohol industry. Curr Opin Psychiatry 22(3):253–257 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19262384, accessed 25 November 2017).
- Anderson P, Baumberg B (2006a). Alcohol in Europe. A public health perspective. London: Institute of Alcohol Studies (http://leonardo3.dse.univr.it/addiction/documents/External/alcoholineu.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Anderson P, Baumberg B (2006b). Stakeholders' views of alcohol policy. Nord Stud Alcohol Drugs 23(6):393–414 (http://www.nordicwelfare.org/PageFiles/9945/Stakeholders%E2%80%99%20views%20 of%20alcohol%20policy.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Anderson P, Chisholm D, Fuhr DC (2009). Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of policies and programmes to reduce the harm caused by alcohol. Lancet 373(9682):2234–2246 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/19560605, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Anderson P, de Bruijn A, Angus K, Gordon R, Hastings G (2009). Impact of alcohol advertising and media exposure on adolescent alcohol use: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. Alcohol Alcohol. 44(3):229–243 (http://alcalc.oxfordjournals.org/content/44/3/229, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Anderson P, Møller L, Galea G (2012). Alcohol in the European Union. Consumption, harm and policy approaches. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/ pdf\_file/0003/160680/e96457.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Angus C, Holmes J, Pryce R, Meier P, Brennan A. (2016). Model-based appraisal of the comparative impact of minimum unit pricing and taxation policies in Scotland. An adaptation of the Sheffield alcohol policy model version 3. Sheffield: University of Sheffield (https://www.sheffield.ac.uk/polopoly\_fs/1.565373!/ file/Scotland\_report\_2016.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Arranz S, Chiva-Blanch G, Valderas-Martínez P, Medina-Remón A, Lamuela-Raventós RM, Estruch R (2012). Wine, beer, alcohol and polyphenols on cardiovascular disease and cancer. Nutrients 4(7):759– 781 (http://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/4/7/759, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 9. Babor T, Caetano R, Casswell S, Edwards G, Giesbrecht N, Graham K, et al. (2010). Alcohol: no ordinary commodity research and public policy. 2nd edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Barry AE, Goodson P (2010). Use (and misuse) of the responsible drinking message in public health and alcohol advertising: a review. Health Educ Behav. 37(2):288–303 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/19667064, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Bloom DE, Chisholm D, Jane-Llopis E, Prettner K, Stein A, Feigl A (2011). From burden to "best buys": reducing the economic impact of non-communicable disease in low-and middle-income countries. Geneva: World Economic Forum (http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/best\_buys\_summary.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Bosque-Prous M, Espelt A, Guitart AM, Bartroli M, Villalbi JR, Brugal MT (2014). Association between stricter alcohol advertising regulations and lower hazardous drinking across European countries. Addiction 109:1634–1643 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24690020, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Bryden A, Roberts B, McKee M, Petticrew M (2012). A systematic review of the influence on alcohol use of community level availability and marketing of alcohol. Health & Place 18(2):349–357 (https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22154843, accessed 20 October 2017).

- Callaghan RC, Gatley JM, Sanches M, Asbridge M (2014). Impacts of the minimum legal drinking age on motor vehicle collisions in Québec, 2000–2012. Am J Prev Med. 47(6):788–795 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/25455120, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 15. Casswell S, Thamarangsi T (2009). Reducing harm from alcohol: call to action. Lancet 373(9682):2247–2257 (http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(09)60745-5/abstract, accessed 20 October 2017).
- CBS-AXA (2015). Citizens' perception, uptake and support for the e-transformation of governance in the Republic of Moldova. Chişinău: Centre for Sociological Investigations and Marketing (http://egov.md/en/ resources/polls/national-annual-survey-citizens-perception-uptake-and-support-e-transformation2, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 17. Connolly GM, Casswell S, Zhang JF, Silva PA (1994). Alcohol in the mass media and drinking by adolescents: a longitudinal study. Addiction 89(10):1255–1263 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7804086, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Cook WK, Bond J, Greenfield TK (2014). Are alcohol policies associated with alcohol consumption in lowand middle-income countries? Addiction 109(7):1081–1090 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC4107632/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Council of the European Union (1992). Council Directive 92/83/EEC of 19 October 1992 on the harmonization of the structures of excise duties on alcohol and alcoholic beverages. Official Journal of the European Communities L316; 31/10/1992:0021–0027 (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=celex%3A31992L0083, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 20. De Bruijn A (2012). Report on the volume of youth exposure to alcohol advertising and sponsorship. Dublin: Health Research Board (Alcohol Measures for Public Health Research Alliance (AMPHORA)) (http://www. drugsandalcohol.ie/19712/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 21. De Bruijn A, Johansen I, Van den Broeck A (2010). Effective alcohol marketing regulations: policy report. Utrecht: Dutch Institute for Alcohol Policy (STAP).
- Doran CM, Hall WD, Shakeshaft AP, Vos T, Cobiac LJ (2010). Alcohol policy reform in Australia: what can we learn from the evidence? Med J Aust. 192:468–470 (https://www.mja.com.au/system/files/issues/192\_08\_190410/ dor11227\_fm.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Elder RW, Lawrence B, Ferguson A, Naimi TS, Brewer RD, Chattopadhyay SK, et al. (2010). The effectiveness
  of tax policy interventions for reducing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med.
  38(2):217–229 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20117579, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 24. Ellickson PL, Collins RL, Hambarsoomians K, McCaffrey DF (2005). Does alcohol advertising promote adolescent drinking? Results from a longitudinal assessment. Addiction 100(2):235–246.
- EU (2014). Association agreement between the European Union and the Republic of Moldova. Official Journal of the European Union L260/4; 30.8.2014:1–735 (http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/ PDF/?uri=CELEX:22014A0830%2801%29&from=EN, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 26. Fernández-Solà J (2015). Cardiovascular risks and benefits of moderate and heavy alcohol consumption. Nat Rev Cardiol. 12(10):576–587 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26099843, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Fitterer JL Nelson TA, Stockwell T (2015). A review of existing studies reporting the negative effects of alcohol access and positive effects of alcohol control policies on interpersonal violence. Front Public Health 3:253 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26636055, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Flewelling RL, Grube JW, Paschall MJ, Biglan A, Kraft A, Black C, et al. (2013). Reducing youth access to alcohol: findings from a community-based randomized trial. Am J Community Psychol. 51(1–2):264–277 (https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3790581/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 29. Forouzanfar MH, Alexander L, Anderson HR, Bachman VF, Biryukv S, Brauer M, et al. (2015). Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks

or clusters of risks in 188 countries, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 386(10010):2287–2323 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26364544, accessed 20 October 2017).

- Gallet CA (2007). The demand for alcohol: a meta-analysis of elasticities. Aust J Agric Resour Econ. 51:121–135 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-8489.2007.00365.x/abstract, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Gallet CA, Andres AR (2011). International evidence on the determinants of alcohol advertising restrictions. Appl Econ Lett. 18(14):1359–1362 (https://econpapers.repec.org/article/tafapeclt/v\_3a18\_ 3ay\_3a2011\_3ai\_3a14\_3ap\_3a1359-1362.htm, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 32. General Police Inspectorate (2016). Peste 180 de oameni au devenit victime din cauza şoferilor băuţi [More than 180 people have become victims of drunk drivers] [website]. Communication from the General Police Inspectorate of the Republic of Moldova, 28 January 2016 (http://www.igp.gov.md/ro/ content/peste-180-de-oameni-au-devenit-victime-din-cauza-soferilor-bauti, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 33. Ghandour L, Nakkash R, Afifi R, Anouti S, Saleh R, Mogharbel S, et al. (2017). K2P policy brief. Alcohol drinking among Lebanese youth: delaying initiation and reducing harm. Beirut: American University of Beirut Faculty of Health Sciences Knowledge to Policy (K2P) Center (https://www.aub.edu.lb/k2p/products/Documents/FINAL\_K2P\_PolicyBrief\_Alcohol\_English\_January\_2017.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Giesbrecht N (2000). Roles of commercial interests in alcohol policies: recent developments in North America. Addiction 95(12s4):581–595 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1046/j.1360-0443.95.12s4.10.x/full, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Gilmore IT (2015). Should the drinks industry have a role in establishing public health policy to reduce alcohol-related harm? Int J Evid Based Healthc. 13(1):1–2 (http://journals.lww.com/ijebh/ Citation/2015/03000/Should\_the\_drinks\_industry\_have\_a\_role\_in.1.aspx, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Gilmore W, Chikritzhs T, Gilmore I (2013). Alcohol: is the evidence base guiding public policy? Int J Evid Based Healthc. 11(2):85–86 (http://journals.lww.com/ijebh/Citation/2013/06000/Alcohol\_\_is\_the\_ evidence\_base\_guiding\_public.1.aspx, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 37. Gornall J (2014). Europe under the influence. BMJ 348:g1166 (https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g1166, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 38. Government of the Republic of Moldova (2008). Hotărîrea Guvernului nr. 1429 din 16.12.2008 privind revizuirea şi optimizarea cadrului normativ de reglementare a activității de întreprinzător [Government decision no. 1429 of 16.12.2008 on the review and optimization of the normative framework for regulating entrepreneurial activity]. Chişinău: Government of the Republic of Moldova (http://lex.justice.md/index. php?action=view&view=doc&lang=1&id=330165, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Government of the Republic of Moldova (2016a). Order of the Government of the Republic of Moldova about approval of the technical concept of the automated information system "Grape and wine-making register". 11 March 2016, No. 282 (https://cis-legislation.com/document.fwx?rgn=84756, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 40. Government of the Republic of Moldova (2016b). Programul de activitate al Guvernului Republicii Moldova 2016–2018 [Action programme of the Government of the Republic of Moldova 2016–2018]. Chişinău: Government of the Republic of Moldova (http://gov.md/sites/default/files/document/ attachments/guvernul\_republicii\_moldova\_-programul\_de\_activitate\_al\_guvernului\_republicii\_ moldova\_2016-2018.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).

- Hahn RA, Kuzara JL, Elder R, Brewer R, Chattopadhyay S, Fielding J, et al. (2010). Effectiveness of policies restricting hours of alcohol sales in preventing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 39.6:590–604 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3712516/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 42. Hastings G, Brooks O, Stead M, Angus K, Anker T, Farrell T. Alcohol advertising: the last chance saloon. BMJ. 340:184–186 (http://oro.open.ac.uk/19809/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Hawkins B, Holden C, Eckhardt J, Lee K (2016). Reassessing policy paradigms: a comparison of the global tobacco and alcohol industries. Glob Public Health; 21 March 2015:1–19 (http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17441692.20 16.1161815, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Hoffman EW, Pinkleton B, Austin EW, Reyes-Velazquez W (2014). Exploring college students' use of general and alcohol-related social media and their associations with alcohol-related behaviors. J Am Coll Health; 62:328 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24635485, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 45. Holder H, editor (2008). Alcohol monopoly and public health: potential effects of privatization of the Swedish alcohol retail monopoly. Solna: Swedish National Institute of Public Health.
- 46. Hoover T (2008). Sunday alcohol sales set. The Denver Post. 15 April 2008 (http://www.denverpost. com/2008/04/14/sunday-alcohol-sales-set/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 47. Horten M (2016). Raport privind neutralitatea internetului în Republica Moldova, Chişinău [Report on internet neutrality in the Republic of Moldova]. Chişinău: Council of Europe (http://idsi.asm.md/files/CoE\_Network\_ neutrality\_Report\_Moldova.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 48. IHME (2017). GBD compare. Viz hub [online database]. Seattle (WA): Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (http://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Jackson MC, Hastings G, Wheeler C, Eadie D, Mackintosh AM (2000). Marketing alcohol to young people: implications for industry regulation and research policy. Addiction 95 (Suppl 4):S597–S608 (https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11218354, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Jang WY, Frederick E (2013). The influence of alcohol advertising? Effects of interpersonal communication and alcohol expectancies as partial mediators on drinking among college students. Int J Health Wellness Soc. 2013; 2:83–98.
- Jernigan DH, Ostroff J, Ross C, O'Hara JA 3rd (2004). Sex differences in adolescent exposure to alcohol advertising in magazines. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 158:629–634 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/15237061, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 52. Jernigan D, Noel J, Landon J, Thornton N, Lobstein T (2016). Alcohol marketing and youth alcohol consumption: a systematic review of longitudinal studies published since 2008. Addiction 112 (Suppl 1):7–20 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/add.13591/full, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 53. Komro KA, Toomey TL (2002). Strategies to prevent underage drinking. Alcohol Res Health 26(1):5–14 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12154652, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Koordeman R, Anschutz DJ, Engels RC (2011). Exposure to alcohol commercials in movie theatres affects actual alcohol consumption in young adult high weekly drinkers: an experimental study. Am J Addict. 2011; 20(3):285–291.
- 55. Koordeman R, Anschutz DJ, Engels RC (2012). The effect of alcohol advertising on immediate alcohol consumption in college students: an experimental study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 36(5):874–880 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22017281, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Kypri K, Voas RB, Langley JD, Stephenson SC, Begg DJ, Tippetts AS, et al. (2006). Minimum purchasing age for alcohol and traffic crash injuries among 15-to 19-year-olds in New Zealand. Am J Public Health 96(1):126–131 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16317197, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 57. Lachenmeier DW, Taylor BJ, Rehm J (2011). Alcohol under the radar: do we have policy options regarding unrecorded alcohol? Int J Drug Policy 22(2):153–160 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21242085, accessed 20 October 2017).

- Lesco G (2015). Behavioral and social determinants of adolescent health. Summary report of the Health Behavior in School-aged Children (HBSC) study in the Republic of Moldova. Chişinău: United Nations (http://md.one.un.org/content/dam/unct/moldova/docs/pub/HBSC%20report%20Moldova%20en.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 59. Lewin S, Oxman AD, Lavis JN, Fretheim A (2009). SUPPORT tools for evidence-informed health policymaking (STP). 8: deciding how much confidence to place in a systematic review. Health Res Policy Syst. 7(Suppl 1):S8 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20018115, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani H, et al. (2012). A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 380(9859): 2224–2260 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23245609, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Lobstein T, Landon J, Thornton N, Jernigan D (2017). The commercial use of digital media to market alcohol products: a narrative review. Addiction 112(Suppl. 1):21–27 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/27327239, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 62. Ludbrook A (2009). Minimum pricing of alcohol. Health Econ. 18(12):1357–1360 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1002/hec.1558/abstract, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Martineau F, Tyner E, Lorenc T, Petticrew M, Lock K (2013). Population-level interventions to reduce alcohol-related harm: an overview of systematic reviews. Prev Med. 57(4):278–296 (https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23811528, accessed 25 November 2017).
- 64. Martuzzi M, Tickner JA (2004). The precautionary principle: protecting public health, the environment and the future of our children. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who. int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0003/91173/E83079.pdf, accessed 17 August 2018).
- McClure AC, Stoolmiller M, Tanski SE, Worth KA, Sargent JD (2009). Alcohol-branded merchandise and its association with drinking attitudes and outcomes in US adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 163(3):211–217 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2707771/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- McMillan GP, Lapham S (2006). Effectiveness of bans and laws in reducing traffic deaths: legalized Sunday packaged alcohol sales and alcohol-related traffic crashes and crash fatalities in New Mexico. Am J Public Health 96(11):1944–1948.
- Meier PS, Holmes J, Angus C, Ally AK, Meng Y, Brennan A (2016). Estimated effects of different alcohol taxation and price policies on health inequalities: a mathematical modelling study. PLoS Med.13(2):e1001963 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26905063, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Middleton JC, Hahn RA, Kuzara JL, Elder R, Brewer R, Chattopadhyay S, et al. (2010). Effectiveness of policies maintaining or restricting days of alcohol sales on excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 39(6):575–589 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21084079, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Ministry of Finance (2016). Scrisoarea nr. 14/1-06/291 din 31.10.2016 la scrisoarea Ministerului Sănătății nr. 01-9/1789 din 18.10.2016 [Letter nr. 14/1-06/291 from 31.10.2016 on Ministry of Health letter nr. 01-9/1789 from 18.10.2016.] Chişinău: Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Moldova (in Romanian).
- 70. Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection (2015). KAP survey knowledge, attitudes and practices regarding alcohol consumption. Phase I, phase II and phase III. Chişinău: Magenta Consulting (http://www.old2.ms.gov.md/sites/default/files/kap\_survey-knowledge\_attitudes\_and\_practices\_regarding\_alcohol\_consumption\_phase\_i\_phase\_ii\_and\_phase\_iii.pdf, accessed 25 November 2017).
- Morgenstern M, Sargent JD, Sweeting H, Faggiano F, Mathis F, Hanewinkel R (2014). Favourite alcohol advertisements and binge drinking among adolescents: a cross-cultural cohort study. Addiction 109(12):2005–2015 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24962215, accessed 20 October 2017).

- 72. Mosher JF, Johnsson D (2005). Flavored alcoholic beverages: an international marketing campaign that targets youth. J Public Health Policy 26(3):326–342 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16167560, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 73. National Centre for Health Management, EMCDDA (2016). Alcohol, drugs and tobacco use among students in 8th and 9th grades, Republic of Moldova 2015. Chişinău: Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova (http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/att\_249296\_EN\_ENP%20 ESPAD%20final%20report\_Moldova.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 74. National Centre of Public Health, UNICEF (2014). Republic of Moldova Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey 2012. Final report. Chişinău: Ministry of Health, Labour and Social Protection of the Republic of Moldova (https:// www.unicef.org/moldova/2012\_Moldova\_MICS\_FINAL\_EN.1(1).pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 75. NBS (2011). Violence against women in the family in the Republic of Moldova. 1st edition. Chişinău: National Bureau of Statistics of the Republic of Moldova (http://md.one.un.org/content/dam/unct/moldova/docs/ Raport\_violen\_fem\_eng.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- NCI (2017). Alcohol (Code C2190) [website]. NCI thesaurus (Version 17.09d). Bethesda (MD): National Cancer Institute (https://ncit.nci.nih.gov/ncitbrowser/ConceptReport.jsp?dictionary=NCI\_Thesaurus&code=C2190, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 77. Nelson JP (2013). Meta-analysis of alcohol price and income elasticities with corrections for publication bias. Health Econ Rev. 3(1):1–10 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23883547, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 78. Nelson JP (2014). Estimating the price elasticity of beer: meta-analysis of data with heterogeneity, dependence, and publication bias. J Health Econ. 33:180–187 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24362352, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 79. Nelson JP (2015). Binge drinking and alcohol prices: a systematic review of age-related results from econometric studies, natural experiments and field studies. Health Econ Rev. 5:6 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/25853004, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Nelson TF, Xuan Z, Babor TF, Brewer RD, Chaloupka FJ, Gruenewald PJ, et al. (2013). Efficacy and the strength of evidence of U.S. alcohol control policies. Am J Prev Med. 45(1):19–28 (http://europepmc.org/abstract/ med/23790985, accessed 20 October 2017).
- NICE (2010). Alcohol use disorders: preventing the development of hazardous and harmful drinking. NICE public health guidance 24. London: National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (http://www. riskybusinessdorset.org/MyFiles/Files/NICE%20Guidance%20PH24%20Hazardous%20and%20Harmful%20 Drinking.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Noel JK, Babor TF (2017). Does industry self-regulation protect young people from exposure to alcohol marketing? A review of compliance and complaint studies. Addiction 112 (Suppl. 1):51–56 (http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1111/add.v112.S1/issuetoc, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Noel JK, Babor TF, Robaina K (2017). Industry self-regulation of alcohol marketing: a systematic review of content and exposure research. Addiction 112 (Suppl. 1):28–50 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ add.v112.S1/issuetoc, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 84. Parliament of the Republic of Moldova (2006). Hotărîrea Parlamentului Republicii Moldova nr. 433 din 28.12.2006 cu privire la aprobarea statutului, structurii organizatorice, devizului de cheltuieli şi a cuantumului retribuirii lunare a membrilor şi colaboratorilor Consiliului Coordonator al Audiovizualului [Parliament decision no. 433-XVI of 28 December 2006 on approval of the status, organizational structure and staff limits of the Broadcasting Coordinating Council]. Chişinău: Government of the Republic of Moldova (http://lex.justice.md/index.php?action=view&view=doc&lang=1&id=319943, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 85. Paukštė E, Liutkutė V, Štelemėkas M, Goštautaitė Midttun N, Veryga A (2014). Overturn of the proposed alcohol advertising ban in Lithuania. Addiction 109(5):711–719 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24588798, accessed 25 November 2017).

#### EVIDENCE BRIEF FOR POLICY

- Popova S, Glesbrecht N, Bekmuradov D, Patra J (2009). Hours and days of sale and density of alcohol outlets: impacts on alcohol consumption and damage: a systematic review. Alcohol Alcohol. 44(5):500– 516 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19734159, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 87. Prime Minister's Strategy Unit (2004). Alcohol harm reduction strategy for England. London: Prime Minister's Strategy Unit of the United Kingdom Cabinet Office (http://alcoholresearchuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/strategy-unit-alcohol-harm-reduction-strategy.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Rehm J, Mathers C, Popova S, Thavorncharoensap M, Teerawattananon Y, Patra J (2009). Global burden of disease and injury and economic cost attributable to alcohol use and alcohol-use disorders. Lancet 373(9682):2223–2233 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19560604, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Robinson TN, Chen HL, Killen JD (1998). Television and music video exposure and risk of adolescent alcohol use. Pediatrics 102(5):E54 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9794984, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Ross CS (2014). Social and familial risk factors for alcohol initiation and affective response to marijuana use [dissertation]. Boston (MA): Boston University School of Public Health (https://hdl.handle. net/2144/11036, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Ross CS, Maple E, Siegel M, Dejong W, Naimi TS, Padon AA, et al. (2015). The relationship between population-level exposure to alcohol advertising on television and brand-specific consumption among underage youth in the US. Alcohol Alcohol. 50(3):358–364 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/25754127, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Santoro A, Glonti K, Bertollini R, Ricciardi W, McKee M (2015). Mapping health research capacity in 17 countries of the former Soviet Union and south-eastern Europe: an exploratory study. Eur J Public Health: 26(2):349–354 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26450913, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Sargent JD, Wills TA, Stoolmiller M, Gibson J, Gibbons FX (2006). Alcohol use in motion pictures and its relation with early-onset teen drinking. J Stud Alcohol 67(1):54–65 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/16536129, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 94. Sassi F, editor (2015). Tackling harmful alcohol use: economics and public health policy. Paris: OECD Publishing (http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/tackling-harmful-alcohol-use\_9789264181069-en, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Savell E, Fooks G, Gilmore AB (2016). How does the alcohol industry attempt to influence marketing regulations? A systematic review. Addiction 111(1):18–32 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC4681589/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Scott S, Muirhead C, Schucksmith J, Tyrrell R, Kaner E (2016). Does industry-driven alcohol marketing influence adolescent drinking behaviour? A systematic review. Alcohol Alcohol. 52(1):84–94 (https:// academic.oup.com/alcalc/article/52/1/84/2614654/Does-Industry-Driven-Alcohol-Marketing-Influence, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Shield KD, Rylett M, Rehm J (2016). Public health successes and missed opportunities. Trends in alcohol consumption and attributable mortality in the WHO European Region, 1990–2014. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0018/319122/Publichealth-successes-and-missed-opportunities-alcohol-mortality-19902014.pdf?ua=1, accessed 20 October 2017).
- Shults RA, Elder RW, Sleet DA, Nichols JL, Alao MO, Carande-Kulis VG, et al. (2001). Reviews of evidence regarding interventions to reduce alcohol-impaired driving. Am J Prev Med. 21(4):66–88 (https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11691562, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 99. Siegel MB, Ross CS, Albers AB, Dejong W, King CI, Naimi TS, et al. (2016). The relationship between exposure to brand-specific alcohol advertising and brand-specific consumption among underage

drinkers – United States, 2011–2012. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 42(1):4–14 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26479468, accessed 20 October 2017).

- 100. Siegfried N, Pienaar DC, Ataguba JE, Volmink J, Kredo T, Jere M, et al. (2014). Restricting or banning alcohol advertising to reduce alcohol consumption in adults and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 11:CD010704.
- 101. Skarphedinsdottir M, Smith B, Ferrario A, Zues O, Ciobanu A, Tîrdea M, et al. (2014). Better noncommunicable disease outcomes: challenges and opportunities for health systems Republic of Moldova country assessment. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_\_file/0008/255464/Better-noncommunicable-disease-outcomes,-Republic-of-Moldova-Country-Assessment. pdf?ua=1, accessed 20 January, 2015).
- 102. Slater MD, Kelly KJ, Edwards RW, Thurman PJ, Plested BA, Keefe TJ, et al. (2006). Combining in-school and community based media efforts: reducing marijuana and alcohol uptake among younger adolescents. Health Educ Res. 21(1):157–167 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16199491, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 103. Smith LA, Foxcroft DR (2009). The effect of alcohol advertising, marketing and portrayal on drinking behaviour in young people: systematic review of prospective cohort studies. BMC Public Health 9:51 (https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2458-9-51, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 104. Smith RC, Geller ES (2009). Marketing and alcohol-related traffic fatalities: impact of alcohol advertising targeting minors. J Safety Res. 40:359–364 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19932316, accessed 17 August 2018).
- 105. Snyder LB, Fleming Milici F, Slater M (2006). Effects of alcohol advertising exposure on drinking among youth. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 160(1):18–24 (https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/fullarticle/204410, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 106. Stautz K, Brown KG, King SE, Shemilt I, Marteau TM (2016). Immediate effects of alcohol marketing communications and media portrayals on consumption and cognition: a systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental studies. BMC Public Health 16(1):1 (https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3116-8, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 107. Stockwell T, Auld MC, Zhao J, Martin G (2012). Does minimum pricing reduce alcohol consumption? The experience of a Canadian province. Addiction 107(5):912–920 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/22168350, accessed 25 November 2017).
- 108. Ţîrdea M, Ciobanu A, Vasiliev T, Buzdugan L (2011). Reducing harmful use of alcohol: cost-effectiveness of alcohol control strategies in the Republic of Moldova. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2011 (Health Policy Paper Series No. 3) (http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/157704/e96177.pdf, accessed 20 March 2015).
- 109. Vandenberg B, Sharma A (2016). Are alcohol taxation and pricing policies regressive? Product-level effects of a specific tax and a minimum unit price for alcohol. Alcohol Alcohol. 51(4):493–502 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/26719379, accessed 25 November 2017)
- Vendrame A, Pinsky I (2011). Inefficacy of self-regulation of alcohol advertisements: a systematic review of the literature. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 33(2):196–202 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21829914, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 111. Wagenaar AC, Salois MJ, Komro KA (2009). Effects of beverage alcohol price and tax levels on drinking: a meta-analysis of 1003 estimates from 112 studies. Addiction 104(2):179–190 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/19149811, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 112. Wagenaar AC, Tobler AL, Komro KA (2010). Effects of alcohol tax and price policies on morbidity and mortality: a systematic review. Am J Public Health 100(11):2270–2278 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC2951962/, accessed 20 October 2017).

- 113. WHO (2005). WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control. Geneva: World Health Organization (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/42811/1/9241591013.pdf?ua=1, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 114. WHO (2010a). Georgia STEPS survey 2010. Fact sheet. Geneva: World Health Organization (http://www.who.int/chp/steps/Georgia\_2010\_Fact\_Sheet.pdf?ua=1, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 115. WHO (2010b). Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol 2010. Geneva: World Health Organization (http://www.who.int/substance\_abuse/alcstratenglishfinal.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 116. WHO (2013). Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases 2013-2020. Geneva: World Health Organization (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/94384/9789241506236\_eng.pdf?sequence=1, accessed 7 March 2019).
- 117. WHO (2014). Global status report on alcohol and health 2014. Geneva: World Health Organization (http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/112736/1/9789240692763\_eng.pdf?ua=1, accessed 20 October 2017).
- WHO Regional Office for Europe (2012). European Action Plan to Reduce Harmful Use of Alcohol 2012-2020. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_ file/0008/178163/E96726.pdf, accessed 7 March 2019).
- 119. WHO (2018). Global Health Observatory Data [online database]. Geneva: World Health Organization (http://www.who.int/gho/en/, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 120. WHO Regional Office for Europe (2014a). European status report on alcohol and health 2014. Pricing policies. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_\_file/0003/244902/Pricing-policies.pdf, accessed 08 August 2018).
- 121. WHO Regional Office for Europe (2014b). Prevalence of noncommunicable disease risk factors in the Republic of Moldova. STEPS 2013. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http://www.euro. who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0009/252774/PREVALENCE-OF-NONCOMMUNICABLE-DISEASE-RISK-FACTORS-IN-THE-REPUBLIC-OF-MOLDOVA-STEPS-2013.pdf?ua=1, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 122. WHO Regional Office for Europe (2016). Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases in the WHO European Region 2016-2020. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (http:// www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0008/346328/NCD-ActionPlan-GB.pdf?ua=1, accessed 7 March 2019).
- 123. Wilkinson C, Livingston M, Room R (2016). Impacts of changes to trading hours of liquor licences on alcohol-related harm: a systematic review 2005–2015. Public Health Res Pract. 26(4)e2641644 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27714387, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 124. Winpenny E, Patil S, Elliott M, Vilalba van Dijk L, Hinrichs S, Marteau T, et al. (2012). Assessment of young people's exposure to alcohol marketing in audiovisual and online media. Cambridge: RAND Europe (https://ec.europa.eu/health//sites/health/files/alcohol/docs/alcohol\_rand\_youth\_exposure\_marketing\_en.pdf, accessed 20 October 2017).
- 125. Zatonski W, editor (2008). Closing the health gap in European Union. Warsaw: Maria-Sklodowska-Curie Memorial Cancer Center and Institute of Oncology (http://www.academia.edu/6722430/Closing\_the\_health\_gap\_in\_European\_Union, accessed 20 October 2017).

## ANNEXES

The tables presented in the annexes to this report provide details about the systematic reviews identified for each approach. Annex 1 lists all systematic reviews found, their reliability and acceptability, and whether they are included in the evidence brief for policy (EBP).

In annexes 2–4, each systematic review relevant to the respective approach is listed in the first column as a reference, alongside the focus of the review in the second column and the main findings in the third column, with an overall assessment of the quality of the review. The quality of every systematic review was assessed using the SURE checklist, which establishes its quality according to a rating of the methods used to identify, select and critically appraise studies and the methods used to analyse the results of the studies included. Based on a summary assessment, each systematic review is rated according to the following system: (a) fatal flaws – the limitations of the systematic review are important enough that the results of the review are not reliable and they should not be used in the EBP; (b) important limitations - the limitations of the review are important enough that it would be worthwhile searching for another systematic review and interpreting the results of this review cautiously, if a better one cannot be found; (c) reliable - the review contains only minor limitations and can be used as a reliable summary of the best available evidence. A reliable rating indicates that the reader of the review may have a high level of confidence in its conclusions. On the other hand, an important limitation rating does not mean that the review should be rejected; it simply implies a lower level of confidence in its conclusions and that the review should be examined with caution so as to identify its specific limits (Lewin et al., 2009).

The last column of Annexes 2–4 shows the proportion of studies conducted in Europe and/or in low- and middle-income countries.

#### ■ EVIDENCE BRIEF FOR POLICY

Annex 1. Reliability and acceptability of the systematic reviews found for the three policy approach options, according to the SURE checklist

| Approach   | Systematic review   | SURE rating             | Local<br>acceptability | Inclusion in<br>EBP |
|--|---|-------------------------|------------------------|---------------------|
| Approach 1.<br>Regulating<br>retail sales<br>of alcoholic<br>beverages | Fitterer JL, Nelson TA, Stockwell T (2015). A review of existing studies reporting the negative effects of alcohol access and positive effects of alcohol control policies on interpersonal violence. Front Public Health 3:253 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26636055, accessed 20 October 2017).                   | Fatal flaws             | Not assessed           | Not included        |
|  | Holmes J et al. (2014). The impact of spatial and temporal<br>availability of alcohol on its consumption and related harms: a<br>critical review in the context of UK licensing policies. Drug and<br>alcohol review 33(5):515–525 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br/>pubmed/25186193</u> , accessed 25 November 2017). | Fatal flaws             | Not assessed           | Not included        |
|  | Hahn RA et al. (2010). Effectiveness of policies restricting hours of alcohol sales in preventing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 39(6):590–604 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3712516/</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).   | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable             | Included            |
|  | Middleton JC et al. (2010). Effectiveness of policies maintaining or restricting days of alcohol sales on excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 39(6):575–589 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21084079</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).  | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable             | Included            |
|  | Popova S et al. (2009). Hours and days of sale and density of alcohol outlets: impacts on alcohol consumption and damage: a systematic review. Alcohol Alcohol. 44(5):500–516 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19734159</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).  | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable             | Included            |
|  | Wilkinson C, Livingston M, Room R (2016). Impacts of changes<br>to trading hours of liquor licences on alcohol-related harm: a<br>systematic review 2005–2015. Public Health Res Pract. 26(4)<br>e2641644 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27714387</u> ,<br>accessed 20 October 2017).                             | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable             | Included            |

# Informing amendments to the alcohol control legislation directed at reducing harmful use of alcohol in the Republic of Moldova

| Approach 2.<br>Regulating<br>advertising<br>of alcoholic | Anderson P et al. (2009). Impact of alcohol advertising and media<br>exposure on adolescent alcohol use: a systematic review of<br>longitudinal studies. Alcohol Alcohol. 44(3):229–243 ( <u>http://alcalc.</u><br><u>oxfordjournals.org/content/44/3/229</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).   | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |
|--|--|-------------------------|--------------|--------------|
| beverages  | Barry AE, Goodson P (2010). Use (and misuse) of the responsible drinking message in public health and alcohol advertising: a review. Health Educ Behav. 37(2):288–303 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19667064</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).   | Fatal flaws             | Not assessed | Not included |
|  | Bryden A et al. (2012). A systematic review of the influence on alcohol use of community level availability and marketing of alcohol. Health & place 18(2):349–357 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22154843</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).  | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Gallet CA (2007). The demand for alcohol: a meta-analysis<br>of elasticities. Aust J Agric Resour Econ. 51:121–135 ( <u>http://<br/>onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-8489.2007.00365.x/</u><br><u>abstract</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).  | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Jernigan D et al. (2016). Alcohol marketing and youth alcohol consumption: a systematic review of longitudinal studies published since 2008. Addiction 112 (Suppl 1):7–20 ( <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/add.13591/full</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).  | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Scott S et al. (2016). Does industry-driven alcohol marketing<br>influence adolescent drinking behaviour? A systematic review.<br>Alcohol Alcohol. 52(1):84–94 ( <u>https://academic.oup.com/alcalc/article/52/1/84/2614654/Does-Industry-Driven-Alcohol-Marketing-Influence</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).                                | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Savell E, Fooks G, Gilmore AB (2016). How does the alcohol industry attempt to influence marketing regulations? A systematic review. Addiction 111(1):18–32 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4681589/</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).  | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Smith LA, Foxcroft DR (2009). The effect of alcohol advertising,<br>marketing and portrayal on drinking behaviour in young people:<br>systematic review of prospective cohort studies. BMC Public<br>Health 9:51 ( <u>https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/</u><br><u>articles/10.1186/1471-2458-9-51</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).  | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Stautz K et al. (2016). Immediate effects of alcohol marketing communications and media portrayals on consumption and cognition: a systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental studies. BMC Public Health 16(1):1 ( <u>https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3116-8</u> , accessed 20 October 2017). | Reliable                | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Siegfried N et al. (2014). Restricting or banning alcohol advertising<br>to reduce alcohol consumption in adults and adolescents.<br>Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 11:CD010704.  | Reliable                | Acceptable   | Included     |
|  | Vendrame A, Pinsky I (2011). Inefficacy of self-regulation of<br>alcohol advertisements: a systematic review of the literature. Rev<br>Bras Psiquiatr. 33(2):196–202 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u><br><u>pubmed/21829914</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).   | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable   | Included     |

#### ■ EVIDENCE BRIEF FOR POLICY

| Approach 3.<br>Regulating ex-<br>cise taxation<br>and prices<br>on alcoholic<br>beverages | Elder RW et al. (2010). The effectiveness of tax policy interventions for reducing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 38(2):217–229.  | Reliable                | Acceptable | Included |
|---|--|-------------------------|------------|----------|
|   | Gallet CA (2007). The demand for alcohol: a meta-analysis<br>of elasticities. Aust J Agric Resour Econ. 51:121–135 ( <u>http://<br/>onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-8489.2007.00365.x/</u><br><u>abstract</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).                    | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable | Included |
|   | Lachenmeier DW, Taylor BJ, Rehm J (2011). Alcohol under the<br>radar: do we have policy options regarding unrecorded alcohol?<br>Int J Drug Policy 22(2):153–160 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u><br><u>pubmed/21242085</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).           | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable | Included |
|   | Nelson JP (2015). Binge drinking and alcohol prices: a systematic review of age-related results from econometric studies, natural experiments and field studies. Health Econ Rev. 5:6 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25853004</u> , accessed 20 October 2017). | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable | Included |
|   | Nelson JP (2013). Meta-analysis of alcohol price and income<br>elasticities – with corrections for publication bias. Health Econ<br>Rev. 3(1):1–10 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23883547</u> ,<br>accessed 20 October 2017).                                 | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable | Included |
|   | Nelson JP (2014). Estimating the price elasticity of beer: meta-<br>analysis of data with heterogeneity, dependence, and publication<br>bias. J Health Econ. 33:180–187 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u><br><u>pubmed/24362352</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).    | Reliable                | Acceptable | Included |
|   | Wagenaar AC, Tobler AL, Komro KA (2010). Effects of alcohol tax and price policies on morbidity and mortality: a systematic review. Am J Public Health 100(11):2270–2278 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2951962/, accessed 20 October 2017).              | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable | Included |
|   | Wagenaar AC, Salois MJ, Komro KA (2009). Effects of beverage alcohol price and tax levels on drinking: a meta-analysis of 1003 estimates from 112 studies. Addiction 104(2):179–190 ( <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19149811</u> , accessed 20 October 2017).   | Important<br>limitation | Acceptable | Included |

| Annex 2. Summary of systematic reviews relevant to Approach 1. Regulating retail sales of |  |
|---|--|
| alcoholic beverages   |  |

| Reference  | Focus of systematic<br>review   | Main findings   | SURE<br>rating          | Proportion of<br>studies conducted<br>in Europe and/<br>or in low- and<br>middle-income<br>countries |
|--|---|---|-------------------------|--|
| Hahn RA et al. (2010). Effec-<br>tiveness of policies restricting<br>hours of alcohol sales in<br>preventing excessive alcohol<br>consumption and related<br>harms. Am J Prev Med.<br>39(6):590–604 (https://www.<br>ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/<br>PMC3712516/, accessed 20<br>October 2017).              | <ul> <li>Effectiveness of local, state, and national policies that limit the retail hours of alcoholic beverages.</li> <li>Effects of increasing retail hours in on-premises settings.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Policies decreasing retail<br/>hours by 2 hours or more at<br/>on-premises alcohol outlets<br/>may be an effective strategy<br/>for preventing alcohol-related<br/>harms.</li> <li>The evidence from 6 qualify-<br/>ing studies was insufficient to<br/>determine whether increas-<br/>ing alcohol retail hours by less<br/>than 2 hours increases exces-<br/>sive alcohol consumption<br/>and related harms.</li> </ul> | Important<br>limitation | 16 studies, of which<br>7 in Europe  |
| Middleton JC et al. (2010).<br>Effectiveness of policies main-<br>taining or restricting days of<br>alcohol sales on excessive<br>alcohol consumption and<br>related harms . Am J Prev<br>Med. 39(6):575–589 ( <u>https://<br/>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br/>pubmed/21084079</u> , ac-<br>cessed 20 October 2017). | venting excessive alco-<br>hol consumption and<br>related harms of laws<br>and policies that main-<br>tain or reduce the days   | <ul> <li>Increasing days of alcohol retail at on- and off-premises outlets leads to increases in excessive alcohol consumption and alcohol-related harms.</li> <li>Reducing the number of days that alcoholic beverages are sold generally decreases alcohol-related harms.</li> </ul>  | Important<br>limitation | 11 studies, of which<br>4 in Europe  |
| Popova S et al. (2009). Hours<br>and days of sale and density<br>of alcohol outlets: impacts<br>on alcohol consumption and<br>damage: a systematic review.<br>Alcohol Alcohol. 44(5):500–516<br>(https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.<br>gov/pubmed/19734159, ac-<br>cesed la 20 October 2017).                           | • The effectiveness of changing retail hours and days, as well as the density of alcohol outlets.   | <ul> <li>Restricting outlet density,<br/>and alcohol retail hours and<br/>days had an impact on one<br/>or more of the three main<br/>outcome variables, such as<br/>overall alcohol consumption,<br/>drinking patterns and dam-<br/>age from alcohol.</li> </ul>   | Important<br>limitation | 15 studies, of which<br>6 in Europe and<br>low- and middle-<br>income countries                      |
| Wilkinson C, Livingston M,<br>Room R (2016). Impacts of<br>changes to trading hours of<br>liquor licences on alcohol-re-<br>lated harm: a systematic re-<br>view 2005–2015. Public Health<br>Res Pract. 26(4) (https://<br>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br>pubmed/27714387, accesed 20<br>October 2017).              | <ul> <li>The impact on alco-<br/>hol-related harms of<br/>changing the alcohol<br/>retail hours.</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Restricting the late trading<br/>hours of bars and hotels is<br/>a key approach to reducing<br/>late-night violence.</li> </ul>  | Important<br>limitation | 21 studies, of which<br>10 in Europe   |

| Reference   | Focus of systematic<br>review   | Main findings  | Rating                  | Proportion of<br>studies conducted<br>in Europe and/or<br>in low and middle<br>income countries |
|---|---|--|-------------------------|---|
| Bryden A et al. (2012). A<br>systematic review of the<br>influence on alcohol use of<br>community level availability<br>and marketing of alcohol.<br>Health & place 18(2):349–357<br>(https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br>pubmed/22154843, accessed<br>20 October 2017).   | <ul> <li>The influence on alcohol<br/>use of community-level<br/>availability and mar-<br/>keting of alcohol.</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>The results are inconclusive regarding the influence of advertising on alcohol use, but there was some indication that greater exposure to advertising may be associated with an increase in drinking and, in particular, the likelihood that adolescents have ever tried alcohol.</li> <li>Further studies are required to better understand the influence of advertising on alcohol use.</li> </ul>   | Important<br>limitation | 7 studies, all con-<br>ducted in the United<br>States   |
| Vendrame A, Pinsky I (2011).<br>Inefficacy of self-regulation of<br>alcohol advertisements: a sys-<br>tematic review of the literature.<br>Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 33(2):196–<br>202 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.<br>nih.gov/pubmed/21829914,<br>accessed 20 October 2017).   | • The efficacy of industry self-regulation of alcohol advertising   | <ul> <li>The industry self-regulation of al-<br/>cohol advertising does not show<br/>evidence of efficacy; such regu-<br/>lation does not prevent alcohol<br/>advertising targeting children and<br/>adolescents.</li> <li>Further measures should be con-<br/>sidered to control the broadcas-<br/>ting of alcohol advertising, such<br/>as independent monitoring and<br/>legal controls.</li> </ul>   | Important<br>limitation | 11 studies, of which<br>4 in Europe and<br>middle-income<br>countries                           |
| Scott S et al. (2016). Does indus-<br>try-driven alcohol marketing<br>influence adolescent drinking<br>behaviour? A systematic review.<br>Alcohol Alcohol. 52(1):84–94<br>(https://academic.oup.com/<br>alcalc/article/52/1/84/2614654/<br>Does-Industry-Driven-Alco-<br>hol-Marketing-Influence, ac-<br>cessed 20 October 2017). | • The influence of specific<br>marketing components<br>(price, promotion, pro-<br>duct attributes, and pla-<br>ce of sale/availability) on<br>key drinking outcomes<br>in young people aged<br>9-17 years; continuation,<br>frequency, and intensity. | <ul> <li>Authors tended to report that<br/>greater exposure to alcohol mar-<br/>keting had an impact on drinking<br/>initiation, continuation, frequency<br/>and intensity during adolescence.</li> <li>The evidence is inconclusive in all<br/>four areas of marketing, but stron-<br/>gest for promotional activity. Fu-<br/>ture research with standardized<br/>measures is needed to build on<br/>this work and better inform inter-<br/>ventions and policy responses.</li> </ul> | Important<br>limitation | 35 studies, of which<br>10 in Europe and<br>low- and middle-in-<br>come countries               |
| Anderson P et al. (2009). Impact<br>of alcohol advertising and me-<br>dia exposure on adolescent al-<br>cohol use: a systematic review<br>of longitudinal studies. Alcohol<br>Alcohol. 44(3):229–243 (http://<br>alcalc.oxfordjournals.org/<br>content/44/3/229, accessed 20<br>October 2017).                                    | <ul> <li>The impact of alcohol<br/>advertising and media<br/>exposure on future ado-<br/>lescent alcohol use.</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Alcohol advertising and promo-<br/>tion increases the likelihood that<br/>adolescents will start to use alco-<br/>hol, and to drink more if they are<br/>already using alcohol.</li> </ul>  | Important<br>limitation | 13 studies, of which<br>2 in Europe   |

Annex 3. Summary of systematic reviews relevant to Approach 2. Regulating advertising of alcoholic beverages

# Informing amendments to the alcohol control legislation directed at reducing harmful use of alcohol in the Republic of Moldova

| Savell E, Fooks G, Gilmore AB<br>(2016). How does the alcohol<br>industry attempt to influence<br>marketing regulations? A<br>systematic review. Addiction<br>111(1):18–32 (https://www.<br>ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/<br>PMC4681589/, accesed 20<br>October 2017).   | <ul> <li>Alcohol industry efforts<br/>to influence alcohol mar-<br/>keting policy, compared<br/>with those used by the<br/>tobacco industry.</li> </ul>                            | <ul> <li>The alcohol industry argues against marketing regulation by emphasizing industry responsibility and the effectiveness of self-regulation, questioning the effectiveness of statutory regulation and by focusing on individual responsibility.</li> <li>Arguments relating to industry responsibility are often reinforced through corporate social responsibility activities.</li> <li>The industry primarily conveys its arguments through manipulating the evidence base and by promoting ineffective voluntary codes and non-regulatory initiatives.</li> <li>There are considerable commonalities between tobacco and alcohol industry political activity, with differences found to be the result of differences in policy contexts and perceived industry legitimacy.</li> </ul> | Important<br>limitation | 17 studies, of which<br>4 in Europe and 4<br>transnational   |
|---|--|---|-------------------------|--|
| Jernigan D et al. (2016). Alcohol<br>marketing and youth alcohol<br>consumption: a systematic<br>review of longitudinal studies<br>published since 2008. Addiction<br>112 (Suppl 1):7–20 (http://<br>onlinelibrary.wiley.com/<br>doi/10.1111/add.13591/full,<br>accesed 20 October 2017).   | <ul> <li>To inform debates re-<br/>garding regulation of<br/>commercial alcohol<br/>marketing activities.</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Alcohol marketing affects youth drinking behaviour and public health-orientated policies are needed to prevent, reduce or mitigate this effect.</li> <li>Additional external factors – including non-marketing pro-alcohol messages, family and cultural factors and individual personality types – may explain some of the associations of youth drinking behaviour.</li> </ul>   | Important<br>limitation | 12 studies, of which<br>7 in Europe and low-<br>and middle-income<br>countries   |
| Smith LA, Foxcroft DR (2009).<br>The effect of alcohol adver-<br>tising, marketing and portrayal<br>on drinking behaviour in<br>young people: systematic<br>review of prospective cohort<br>studies. BMC Public Health<br>9:51 (https://bmcpublichealth.<br>biomedcentral.com/arti-<br>cles/10.1186/1471-2458-9-51,<br>accessed 20 October 2017). | <ul> <li>The relationship betwe-<br/>en exposure to alcohol<br/>advertising, marketing<br/>and portrayal and sub-<br/>sequent drinking behavi-<br/>our in young people.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>An association exists between<br/>exposure to alcohol advertising<br/>or promotional activity and sub-<br/>sequent alcohol consumption in<br/>young people.</li> </ul>   | Important<br>limitation | 7 studies, of which 1<br>in Europe   |
| Gallet CA (2007). The demand<br>for alcohol: a meta-analysis<br>of elasticities. Aust J Agric<br>Resour Econ. 51:121–135<br>(http://onlinelibrary.wiley.<br>com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-<br>8489.2007.00365.x/abstract,<br>accessed 20 October 2017).  | <ul> <li>Price, income and advertising elasticities of<br/>the demand for alcohol,<br/>beer, wine and spirits.</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>The demand for spirits is more responsive to advertising than the demand for beer.</li> <li>There are no differences between the advertising elasticities of beer, wine and other alcohol types.</li> </ul>  | Important<br>limitation | 132 studies, of which<br>34 in Europe, 2 stud-<br>ies covering multiple<br>countries and 2 on<br>low- and middle-in-<br>come countries |

#### ■ EVIDENCE BRIEF FOR POLICY

| Stautz K et al. (2016). Immedi-<br>ate effects of alcohol marketing<br>communications and media<br>portrayals on consumption<br>and cognition: a systematic<br>review and meta-analysis of<br>experimental studies. BMC<br>Public Health 16(1):1 ( <u>https://</u><br><u>bmcpublichealth.biomed-<br/>central.com/articles/10.1186/<br/>s12889-016-3116-8</u> , accessed<br>20 October 2017). | Immediate effects of<br>exposure to alcoholic<br>marketing on alcoholic<br>beverage consumption<br>and related cognitions.   | <ul> <li>Exposure to alcohol advertisements in television programmes or films (but not portrayal of people drinking alcohol) may increase the quantities of alcoholic beverages that people immediately consume by small amounts, in both males and females.</li> <li>Exposure to portrayal of alcohol being consumed, but not alcohol advertisements, may increase positive explicit alcohol-related cognitions.</li> <li>It remains to be established whether these findings can be generalized beyond students and to other marketing channels.</li> </ul> | Reliable | 24 studies, of which<br>8 in Europe |
|--|--|---|----------|-------------------------------------|
| Siegfried N et al. (2014). Re-<br>stricting or banning alcohol<br>advertising to reduce alcohol<br>consumption in adults and ad-<br>olescents. Cochrane Database<br>Syst Rev. 11:CD010704.   | The benefits, harms<br>and costs of restricting<br>or banning the adver-<br>tising of alcohol (in any<br>format), compared<br>with no restrictions or<br>counter-advertising on<br>alcohol consumption in<br>adults and adolescents. | <ul> <li>The review cannot recommend<br/>for or against banning alcohol<br/>advertising. Governments that<br/>are considering implementing al-<br/>cohol advertising bans would be<br/>advised to implement the ban in<br/>a research-based context and to<br/>monitor the effects over time to<br/>build the evidence base.</li> </ul>   | Reliable | 4 studies, of which 1<br>in Europe  |

Annex 4. Summary of systematic reviews relevant to Approach 3. Regulating excise taxation and prices of alcoholic beverages

| Reference   | Focus of systematic review   | Main findings  | Rating                  | Proportion<br>of studies<br>conducted in<br>Europe and/<br>or in low and<br>middle income<br>countries |
|---|--|--|-------------------------|--|
| Nelson JP (2015). Binge<br>drinking and alcohol<br>prices: a systematic<br>review of age-related<br>results from econo-<br>metric studies, natural<br>experiments and field<br>studies. Health Econ<br>Rev. 5:6 ( <u>https://www.<br/>ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br/>pubmed/25853004,</u><br>accessed 20 October<br>2017). | <ul> <li>The effects of alcohol prices<br/>(or tax surrogates) on binge<br/>drinking for three age groups:<br/>youth, young adults, and<br/>adults. Examined outcomes<br/>include participation, inten-<br/>sity and frequency of binge<br/>drinking.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Increased alcohol taxes or prices are<br/>unlikely to be effective as a means to<br/>reduce binge drinking, regardless of<br/>gender or age group.</li> </ul>   | Important<br>limitation | 67 studies,<br>of which 7 in<br>Europe   |
| Wagenaar AC, Tobler AL,<br>Komro KA (2010). Effects<br>of alcohol tax and price<br>policies on morbidity<br>and mortality: a system-<br>atic review. Am J Public<br>Health 100(11):2270–<br>2278 ( <u>https://www.<br/>ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/<br/>articles/PMC2951962/</u> ,<br>accessed 20 October<br>2017).      | • The effects of alcohol taxes<br>and prices on alcohol-related<br>morbidity and mortality (as a<br>means to assess their public<br>health impact).  | <ul> <li>Doubling the alcohol tax would reduce alcohol-related mortality by an average of 35%; deaths from road traffic accidents by 11%; sexually transmitted diseases by 6%; violence by 2%; and crime by 1.4%.</li> <li>The mechanisms involved in taxing alcoholic beverages produce large public health benefits without requiring additional fiscal resources, and actually generate additional revenues that can be used for other pressing public health infrastructure and prevention needs.</li> </ul>   | Important<br>limitation | 67 studies,<br>of which 7 in<br>Europe and 2<br>studies across<br>multiple coun-<br>tries              |
| Wagenaar AC, Salois<br>MJ, Komro KA (2009).<br>Effects of beverage<br>alcohol price and tax<br>levels on drinking: a<br>meta-analysis of 1003<br>estimates from 112<br>studies. Addiction<br>104(2):179–190 (https://<br>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br>pubmed/19149811,<br>accessed 20 October<br>2017).               |  | <ul> <li>Public policies that raise alcohol prices are an effective means to reduce drinking and effects are significant compared to other prevention policies and programmes.</li> <li>Demand for beer is more price inelastic (-0.46) than wine (-0.69) or spirits (-0.80). Meta-analytical results document the highly significant relationships between alcohol tax or price measures and indices of sales or consumption of alcohol.</li> <li>Alcohol price (and the tax component thereof) also significantly affects heavy drinking; at individual level, elasticity is -0.28, but the magnitude of the effect is smaller than the effect on overall drinking.</li> </ul> | Important<br>limitation | 112 studies,<br>of which 22 in<br>Europe   |

| Nelson JP (2013). Me-<br>ta-analysis of alcohol<br>price and income<br>elasticities – with cor-<br>rections for publication<br>bias. Health Econ Rev.<br>3(1):1–10 ( <u>https://</u><br>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br><u>pubmed/23883547</u> ,<br>accessed 20 October<br>2017).        | <ul> <li>The effect of price and income elasticities of alcoholic beverages on alcohol use.</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Price or tax increases are less effective or more costly than previously claimed. Cumulative average price elasticities are 28–29% smaller than the consensus estimates, with a price inelastic demand for all three types of beverage (-0.30 to -0.55) and total alcohol (-0.50).</li> <li>Income elasticities are more substantial for all beverages. Affordability of alcohol is therefore likely to be significantly influenced by real income increases.</li> <li>The demands by heavy drinkers are less responsive to price compared to the general population.</li> </ul> | Important<br>limitation | 182 studies, of<br>which 68 in Eu-<br>rope, 9 studies<br>across multiple<br>countries and<br>14 in low- and<br>middle-income<br>countries |
|---|--|---|-------------------------|---|
| Nelson JP (2014).<br>Estimating the price<br>elasticity of beer: me-<br>ta-analysis of data with<br>heterogeneity, depen-<br>dence, and publication<br>bias. J Health Econ.<br>33:180–187 (https://<br>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br>pubmed/24362352,<br>accessed 20 October<br>2017). | <ul> <li>Precise estimates of price<br/>elasticities of beer in the con-<br/>text of alcohol tax policy.</li> </ul>  | • The average beer price elasticity is<br>about -0.2, which is less elastic than<br>values used in alcohol tax policy sim-<br>ulations.   | Reliable                | 114 studies,<br>of which 82 in<br>Europe and<br>9 in low- and<br>middle-income<br>countries   |
| Elder RW et al. (2010).<br>The effectiveness of tax<br>policy interventions<br>for reducing excessive<br>alcohol consumption<br>and related harms. Am J<br>Prev Med. 38(2):217–229.   | <ul> <li>The effectiveness of alcohol</li> <li>tax policy interventions for<br/>reducing excessive alcohol<br/>consumption and related<br/>harms.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Raising alcohol excise taxes is an<br/>effective strategy for reducing ex-<br/>cessive alcohol consumption and<br/>related harms. The impact of a po-<br/>tential tax increase is expected to be<br/>proportional to its magnitude and<br/>to be modified by such factors as<br/>disposable income and the demand<br/>elasticity for alcohol among various<br/>population groups.</li> </ul>   | Reliable                | 75 studies, of<br>which 10 in<br>Europe   |
| Gallet CA (2007). The<br>demand for alcohol:<br>a meta-analysis of<br>elasticities. Aust J<br>Agric Resour Econ.<br>51:121–135 (http://<br>onlinelibrary.wiley.com/<br>doi/10.1111/j.1467-<br>8489.2007.00365.x/<br>abstract, accessed 20<br>October 2017).                       | <ul> <li>Price, income and advertising<br/>elasticities of the demand for<br/>beer, wine, spirits, and all al-<br/>cohol.</li> </ul>                         | <ul> <li>Short-run elasticity is more inelastic than long-run elasticity.</li> <li>The demand for beer is more price inelastic than the other beverage types.</li> <li>There is no difference between the price elasticities of wine, spirits and all alcohol.</li> <li>Price inelasticity tends to be more inelastic when the price of tobacco is included as a determinant of per-capita country-level consumption.</li> <li>Younger individuals are less responsive to price than older individuals.</li> </ul>  | Important<br>limitation | 132 studies, of<br>which 34 in Eu-<br>rope, 2 studies<br>across multiple<br>countries and<br>2 in low- and<br>middle-income<br>countries  |

# Informing amendments to the alcohol control legislation directed at reducing harmful use of alcohol in the Republic of Moldova

| <ul> <li>Lachenmeier DW,<br/>Taylor BJ, Rehm J<br/>(2011). Alcohol under<br/>the radar: do we have<br/>policy options regard-<br/>ing unrecorded alco-<br/>hol? Int J Drug Policy<br/>22(2):153–160 (https://<br/>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/<br/>pubmed/21242085,<br/>accessed 20 October<br/>2017).</li> </ul> | It is important for the state to gain<br>effective control over informal alco-<br>hol production and distribution to<br>reduce or eliminate contaminated,<br>low-quality alcohol in circulation;<br>this is achievable through an effec-<br>tive taxation regime.<br>The disparity in consumption levels<br>and the close link between some<br>types of unrecorded alcohol and lo-<br>cal culture and traditions means that<br>different measures are likely to have<br>different results in different parts of<br>the world. |  |
|--|---|--|
|--|---|--|

## **ANNEX REFERENCES**

Anderson P, de Bruijn A, Angus K, Gordon R, Hastings G (2009). Impact of alcohol advertising and media exposure on adolescent alcohol use: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. Alcohol Alcohol. 44(3):229–243 (http://alcalc.oxfordjournals.org/content/44/3/229, accessed 20 October 2017).

Barry AE, Goodson P (2010). Use (and misuse) of the responsible drinking message in public health and alcohol advertising: a review. Health Educ Behav. 37(2):288–303 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19667064, accessed 20 October 2017).

Bryden A, Roberts B, McKee M, Petticrew M (2012). A systematic review of the influence on alcohol use of community level availability and marketing of alcohol. Health & Place 18(2):349–357 (https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/22154843, accessed 20 October 2017).

Elder RW, Lawrence B, Ferguson A, Naimi TS, Brewer RD, Chattopadhyay SK, et al. (2010). The effectiveness of tax policy interventions for reducing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 38(2):217–229 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20117579, accessed 20 October 2017).

Fitterer JL Nelson TA, Stockwell T (2015). A review of existing studies reporting the negative effects of alcohol access and positive effects of alcohol control policies on interpersonal violence. Front Public Health 3:253 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26636055, accessed 20 October 2017).

Gallet CA (2007). The demand for alcohol: a meta-analysis of elasticities. Aust J Agric Resour Econ. 51:121–135 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-8489.2007.00365.x/abstract, accessed 20 October 2017).

Hahn RA, Kuzara JL, Elder R, Brewer R, Chattopadhyay S, Fielding J, et al. (2010). Effectiveness of policies restricting hours of alcohol sales in preventing excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 39(6):590–604 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3712516/, accessed 20 October 2017).

Holmes J, Guo Y, Maheswaran R, Nicholls J, Meier PS, Brennan A (2014). The impact of spatial and temporal availability of alcohol on its consumption and related harms: a critical review in the context of UK licensing policies. Drug Alcohol Rev. 33(5):515–525 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25186193, accessed 25 November 2017).

Jernigan D, Noel J, Landon J, Thornton N, Lobstein T (2016). Alcohol marketing and youth alcohol consumption: a systematic review of longitudinal studies published since 2008. Addiction 112 (Suppl 1):7–20 (http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/add.13591/full, accessed 20 October 2017).

Lachenmeier DW, Taylor BJ, Rehm J (2011). Alcohol under the radar: do we have policy options regarding unrecorded alcohol? Int J Drug Policy 22(2):153–160 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21242085, accessed 20 October 2017).

Lewin S, Oxman AD, Lavis JN, Fretheim A (2009). SUPPORT tools for evidence-informed health policymaking (STP). 8: deciding how much confidence to place in a systematic review. Health Res Policy Syst.7 (Suppl 1):S8 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20018115, accessed 20 October 2017).

Middleton JC, Hahn RA, Kuzara JL, Elder R, Brewer R, Chattopadhyay S, et al. (2010). Effectiveness of policies maintaining or restricting days of alcohol sales on excessive alcohol consumption and related harms. Am J Prev Med. 39(6):575–589 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21084079, accessed 20 October 2017).

Nelson JP (2013). Meta-analysis of alcohol price and income elasticities – with corrections for publication bias. Health Econ Rev. 3(1):1–10 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23883547, accessed 20 October 2017).

Nelson JP (2014). Estimating the price elasticity of beer: meta-analysis of data with heterogeneity, dependence, and publication bias. J Health Econ. 33:180–187 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24362352, accessed 20 October 2017).

Nelson JP (2015). Binge drinking and alcohol prices: a systematic review of age-related results from econometric studies, natural experiments and field studies. Health Econ Rev. 5:6 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/25853004, accessed 20 October 2017).

Popova S, Glesbrecht N, Bekmuradov D, Patra J (2009). Hours and days of sale and density of alcohol outlets: impacts on alcohol consumption and damage: a systematic review. Alcohol Alcohol. 44(5):500–516 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19734159, accessed 20 October 2017).

Savell E, Fooks G, Gilmore AB (2016). How does the alcohol industry attempt to influence marketing regulations? A systematic review. Addiction 111(1):18–32 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4681589/, accessed 20 October 2017).

Scott S, Muirhead C, Schucksmith J, Tyrrell R, Kaner E (2016). Does industry-driven alcohol marketing influence adolescent drinking behaviour? A systematic review. Alcohol Alcohol. 52(1):84–94 (https://academic.oup.com/alcalc/article/52/1/84/2614654/Does-Industry-Driven-Alcohol-Marketing-Influence, accessed 20 October 2017).

Siegfried N, Pienaar DC, Ataguba JE, Volmink J, Kredo T, Jere M, et al. (2014). Restricting or banning alcohol advertising to reduce alcohol consumption in adults and adolescents. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 11:CD010704.

Smith LA, Foxcroft DR (2009). The effect of alcohol advertising, marketing and portrayal on drinking behaviour in young people: systematic review of prospective cohort studies. BMC Public Health 9:51 (https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2458-9-51, accessed 20 October 2017).

Stautz K, Brown KG, King SE, Shemilt I, Marteau TM (2016). Immediate effects of alcohol marketing communications and media portrayals on consumption and cognition: a systematic review and metaanalysis of experimental studies. BMC Public Health 16(1):1 (https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/ articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3116-8, accessed 20 October 2017).

Vendrame A, Pinsky I (2011). Inefficacy of self-regulation of alcohol advertisements: a systematic review of the literature. Rev Bras Psiquiatr. 33(2):196–202 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21829914, accessed 20 October 2017).

Wagenaar AC, Salois MJ, Komro KA (2009). Effects of beverage alcohol price and tax levels on drinking: a meta-analysis of 1003 estimates from 112 studies. Addiction 104(2):179–190 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19149811, accessed 20 October 2017).

Wagenaar AC, Tobler AL, Komro KA (2010). Effects of alcohol tax and price policies on morbidity and mortality: a systematic review. Am J Public Health 100(11):2270–2278 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2951962/, accessed 20 October 2017).

Wilkinson C, Livingston M, Room R (2016). Impacts of changes to trading hours of liquor licences on alcoholrelated harm: a systematic review 2005–2015. Public Health Res Pract. 26(4) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/27714387, accessed 20 October 2017).

### THE WHO REGIONAL OFFICE FOR EUROPE

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health.

The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

#### World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe UN City, Marmorvej 51 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01 E-mail: euwhocontact@who.int Web: <u>www.euro.who.int</u>



REGIONAL OFFICE FOR EUROPE

Disclaimer (map on front cover): The designations employed and the presentation of this material do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers and boundaries.

### MEMBER STATES

Albania Andorra Armenia Austria Azerbaijan **Belarus** Belgium Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Croatia Cyprus Czechia Denmark Estonia Finland France Georgia Germany Greece Hungary Iceland Ireland Israel Italy Kazakhstan Kyrgyzstan Latvia Lithuania Luxembourg Malta Monaco Montenegro **Netherlands** North Macedonia Norway Poland Portugal Republic of Moldova Romania **Russian Federation** San Marino Serbia Slovakia Slovenia Spain Sweden Switzerland Tajikistan Turkev Turkmenistan Ukraine United Kingdom Uzbekistan